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EVIDENCE
OTTAWA, Tuesday, April 28, 2026

The Standing Senate Committee on Indigenous Peoples met
with videoconference this day at 9 a.m. [ET] to examine and
report on the government response, dated March 21, 2024, to the
committee’s twelfth report (interim), entitled On the Outside
Looking In: The Implementation of the Cannabis Act and its
effects on Indigenous Peoples, tabled in the Senate on June 14,
2023, during the First Session of the Forty-fourth Parliament.

Senator Margo Greenwood (Deputy Chair) in the chair.

[English]

The Deputy Chair: Before we begin, I would like to ask all
senators and other in-person participants to consult the cards on
the table in front of you for guidelines to prevent audio feedback
incidents. Please make sure to keep your earpiece away from all
microphones at all times. Thank you all for your cooperation.

I would like to begin by acknowledging that the land on which
we gather is the traditional, ancestral and unceded territory of the
Anishinaabe Algonquin Nation and is now home to many other
First Nations, Métis and Inuit peoples from across Turtle Island.

I am Senator Margo Greenwood. I am from British Columbia,
and I am the Deputy Chair of the Standing Senate Committee on
Indigenous Peoples. In the absence of the chair, it is my honour
to chair this very important meeting today with you.

I wish to invite committee members participating in today’s
meeting to introduce themselves.

Senator Prosper: Senator Paul Prosper from Nova Scotia,
Mi’kma’ki territory.

Senator Karetak-Lindell: Nancy Karetak-Lindell, Nunavut.

Senator McCallum: Mary Jane McCallum, Treaty 10,
Manitoba region.

Senator Clement: Bernadette Clement
Ontario, on traditional Mohawk territory.

from Cornwall,

Senator Tannas: Scott Tannas from Alberta.

TEMOIGNAGES
OTTAWA, le mardi 28 avril 2026

Le Comité sénatorial permanent des peuples autochtones se
réunit aujourd’hui, a 9 heures (HE), avec vidéoconférence, pour
examiner, afin d’en faire rapport, la réponse du gouvernement,
datée du 21 mars 2024, au douziéme rapport (provisoire) du
comité, intitulé Vu de [’extérieur : La mise en ceuvre de la Loi
sur le cannabis et ses effets sur les peuples autochtones, déposé
au Sénat le 14 juin 2023, au cours de la premiére session de la
quarante-quatrieme législature.

La sénatrice Margo Greenwood (vice-présidente) occupe le
fauteuil.

[Traduction]

La vice-présidente : Avant de commencer, j’aimerais
demander a tous les sénateurs et aux autres participants en
personne de consulter les cartes sur la table pour prendre
connaissance des lignes directrices visant a prévenir les incidents
acoustiques. Veuillez vous assurer de garder votre oreillette loin
de tous les microphones en tout temps. Je vous remercie de votre
coopération.

J’aimerais d’abord souligner que le territoire sur lequel nous
nous trouvons est le territoire traditionnel, ancestral et non cédé
de la Premiére Nation algonquine anishinabe, qui accueille
maintenant de nombreuses Premiéres Nations ainsi que des Métis
et des Inuits de divers endroits sur 1’1le de la Tortue.

Je suis la sénatrice Margo Greenwood. Je suis de la Colombie-
Britannique et je suis vice-présidente du Comité sénatorial
permanent des peuples autochtones. En [’absence de Ila
présidente, c’est un honneur pour moi de présider aujourd’hui
cette réunion trés importante.

Je souhaite inviter les membres du comité qui participent a la
réunion d’aujourd’hui a se présenter.

Le sénateur Prosper : Je suis le sénateur Paul Prosper et je
suis de la Nouvelle-Ecosse, territoire Mi’kma’ki.

La sénatrice Karetak-Lindell : Je m’appelle Nancy Karetak-
Lindell et je suis du Nunavut.

La sénatrice McCallum : Je m’appelle Mary Jane McCallum
et je suis de la région du Manitoba, le territoire visé par le Traité
n° 10.

La sénatrice Clement : Je m’appelle Bernadette Clement et
je suis de Cornwall, en Ontario, sur le territoire traditionnel des
Mohawks.

Le sénateur Tannas : Je m’appelle Scott Tannas et je suis de
I’ Alberta.



28:2 Indigenous Peoples

28-4-2026

Senator Francis: Brian Francis, Epekwitk, Prince Edward
Island.

Senator Sorensen: Karen Sorensen, Alberta, Banff National
Park, Treaty 7 territory.

The Deputy Chair: I wish to welcome all of you, and thank
you for being here. I also welcome all the people who are
viewing from across Canada on Senate ParlVU.

We are meeting today to study the government response, dated
March 21, 2024, to the committee’s twelfth report (interim),
entitled On the Outside Looking In: The Implementation of the
Cannabis Act and its effects on Indigenous Peoples, tabled in the
Senate on June 14, 2023, during the First Session of the
Forty-fourth Parliament.

For our first panel, we have the pleasure of welcoming at the
table, from Indigenous Services Canada, Christopher Cornish,
Director General, Economic and Business Opportunities, Lands
and Economic Development; from the Department of Finance
Canada, Lesley Taylor, Director General, Intergovernmental Tax
Policy, Evaluation and Research Division; also from the
Department of Finance Canada, Brent Almond, Senior Director,
Indigenous Tax Policy; and from the Canada Revenue Agency,
Darren Weiner, Director, Excise Duty Division.

Thank you all for joining us. Our witnesses will provide
opening remarks of approximately five minutes each, which will
be followed by a question-and-answer session with senators. I
will now invite Mr. Cornish to give his opening remarks,
followed by Mr. Weiner. Mr. Cornish, you have the floor.

Christopher Cornish, Director General, Economic and
Business Opportunities, Lands and Economic Development,
Indigenous Services Canada: Thank you, Madam Chair.

Good morning, senators, and thank you for the invitation to
appear today.

I would like to begin by acknowledging the Senate committee
report entitled On the Outside Looking In and the important
questions it raises about how the implementation of the Cannabis
Act is affecting First Nations, Inuit and Métis peoples.

These questions speak to real issues: participation in the legal
market, jurisdiction on-reserve, public health impacts and the
ability of communities to enforce their own laws and priorities.

Le sénateur Francis : Je m’appelle Brian Francis et je suis
d’Epekwitk, a 1’[le-du-Prince-Edouard.

La sénatrice Sorensen : Je m’appelle Karen Sorensen et je
suis du parc national Banff, en Alberta, le territoire visé par le
Traité n® 7.

La vice-présidente : Je tiens a souhaiter a tous la bienvenue
et a vous remercier d’étre ici. Je souhaite également la bienvenue
a tous ceux qui nous regardent depuis les quatre coins du Canada
sur ParlVU.

Nous nous réunissons aujourd’hui pour examiner la réponse du
gouvernement, datée du 21 mars 2024, au douziéme rapport
(provisoire) du comité, intitulé Vu de [’extérieur : La mise en
cuvre de la Loi sur le cannabis et ses effets sur les peuples
autochtones, déposé au Sénat le 14 juin 2023, au cours de la
premiére session de la quarante-quatriéme législature.

Je vais présenter notre premier groupe de témoins. Nous avons
le plaisir d’accueillir, de Services aux Autochtones Canada,
Christopher  Cornish,  directeur  général, = Opportunités
économiques et commerciales, Terres et développement
économique; du ministére des Finances Canada, Lesley Taylor,
directrice  générale, Division de la politique fiscale
intergouvernementale, de 1’évaluation et de la recherche;
également du ministére des Finances Canada, Brent Almond,
directeur principal, Section de la politique fiscale autochtone; et
de ’Agence du revenu du Canada, Darren Weiner, directeur,
Division des droits d’accise.

Merci a vous tous d’étre parmi nous. Nos témoins présenteront
des déclarations préliminaires d’environ cinq minutes, qui seront
suivies d’une période de questions et réponses avec les sénateurs.
Je vais maintenant inviter M. Cornish a présenter sa déclaration
préliminaire, suivi de M. Weiner. Monsieur Cornish, la parole est
a vous.

Christopher Cornish, directeur général, Opportunités
économiques et commerciales, Terres et développement
économique, Services aux Autochtones Canada : Je vous
remercie, madame la présidente.

Pinvitation a

Bonjour, sénateurs. Je vous remercie de

comparaitre aujourd’hui.

Je voudrais commencer par reconnaitre le rapport du comité
du Sénat intitulé Vu de [’extérieur et les questions importantes
qu’il souléve sur la maniére dont la mise en ceuvre de la Loi sur
le cannabis affecte les Premiéres Nations, les Inuits et les Métis.

Ces questions concernent des enjeux réels : la participation au
marché 1égal, la compétence sur les réserves, les impacts sur la
santé publique et la capacité des communautés a faire respecter
leurs propres lois et priorités.
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Since legalization in 2018, federal policy has been grounded in
a public health and public safety framework. The work of
Indigenous Services Canada, or ISC, supports that approach in
three areas: enabling economic participation where communities
identify it as a priority, supporting community-led governance
where applicable and contributing to community health and
wellness responses.

On economic participation, ISC has adapted existing
programming so that communities can access support if they
choose to pursue cannabis-related development. Program terms
and conditions under the Community Opportunity Readiness
Program and the Lands and Economic Development Services
Program have been updated so that cannabis-related projects can
be considered under the program criteria.

Subsequently, ISC has provided approximately $4.5 million
through these programs, supporting over 22 cannabis-related
projects across Canada. Similarly, in British Columbia, through
our Strategic Partnerships Initiative and a partnership with the
Province of British Columbia and Health Canada, we have also
invested an additional $2.5 million to support B.C. First Nations
who wish to participate in the legal cannabis trade.

These projects demonstrate regional collaboration with
provinces and territories to help communities navigate federal
and provincial licensing requirements, as well as community-
level investments in business planning, feasibility studies and the
development, construction and expansion of licensed cannabis
cultivation and retail operations, which can advance where
partners work together.

Cannabis intersects with broader Indigenous governance and
land management systems that shape economic decision making,
including the First Nations Fiscal Management Act and the First
Nations Land Management Act.

Under the First Nations Fiscal Management Act, over
370 First Nations have opted in: Approximately 150 exercise
taxation powers, more than 200 have strengthened financial
management systems and over 100 have accessed pooled
borrowing. This reflects a gradual expansion of fiscal
governance tools, with varying uptake depending on community
capacity and priorities.

In parallel, 219 First Nations participate in the First Nations
Land Management Act framework, enabling the development of
land codes and greater authority over land use compared to the

Depuis la 1égalisation en 2018, la politique fédérale repose sur
un cadre de santé publique et de sécurité publique. Le travail de
Services aux Autochtones Canada, ou SAC, soutient cette
approche dans trois domaines favoriser la participation
économique lorsque les communautés déterminent qu’il s’agit
d’une priorité, appuyer la gouvernance communautaire lorsque
cela est applicable et contribuer aux réponses en matiére de santé
et de bien-&tre communautaires.

En ce qui concerne la participation économique, SAC a adapté
les programmes existants afin que les communautés puissent
accéder a un soutien si elles choisissent de poursuivre un
développement li¢ au cannabis. Les modalités du Programme
pour la préparation des collectivités aux possibilités
économiques et du Programme des services relatifs aux terres et
au développement économique ont été mises a jour afin que les
projets liés au cannabis puissent &tre pris en compte dans le
cadre des critéres du programme.

Par la suite, SAC a octroyé environ 4,5 millions de dollars
dans le cadre de ces programmes, soutenant ainsi plus de
22 projets liés au cannabis a travers le Canada. De méme, en
Colombie-Britannique, grdce a notre initiative de partenariats
stratégiques et a un partenariat avec la province de la Colombie-
Britannique et Santé Canada, nous avons également investi
2,5 millions de dollars supplémentaires pour soutenir les
Premiéres Nations de la Colombie-Britannique qui souhaitent
participer au commerce légal du cannabis.

Ces projets démontrent une collaboration régionale avec les
provinces et les territoires pour aider les communautés a s’y
retrouver dans les exigences fédérales et provinciales relatives
aux permis, ainsi que des investissements au niveau
communautaire dans la planification d’entreprise, les études de
faisabilité et le développement, la construction et 1’expansion
d’opérations de culture et de vente au détail de cannabis
autorisées, ce qui peut progresser lorsque les partenaires
travaillent ensemble.

Le cannabis s’inscrit dans des systémes plus larges de
gouvernance autochtone et de gestion des terres qui influencent
la prise de décisions économiques, y compris la Loi sur la
gestion financiére des premiéres nations et la Loi sur la gestion
des terres des premiéres nations.

Plus de 370 Premiéres Nations ont choisi d’adhérer a
la Loi sur la gestion financiére des premiéres nations.
Environ 150 exercent des pouvoirs de taxation, plus de 200 ont
renforcé les systemes de gestion financiére et plus de 100 ont
accédé a I’emprunt sur les débentures collectives. Cela refléte
une expansion progressive des outils de gouvernance fiscale,
avec une adoption variable selon la capacité et les priorités des
communautés.

Parallélement, 219 Premiéres Nations participent au cadre créé
par la Loi sur la gestion des terres des premieres nations, ce qui
permet 1’¢élaboration de codes fonciers et un plus grand contrdle
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Indian Act. Implementation varies based on institutional
readiness, regulatory coordination and local priorities.

In practical terms, these frameworks can support greater
control over land use and economic activity, including cannabis-
related decisions. However, they are not determinative on their
own and do not replace federal or provincial regulatory
requirements, enforcement considerations or access to capital
and markets.

On public health and community wellness, ISC supports a
continuum of Indigenous-led mental wellness services. This
includes funding for 45 Indigenous-operated substance use
treatment programs, as well as mobile crisis response teams and
culturally grounded prevention, treatment and recovery services
across the country.

Substance use, including cannabis, must be understood within
broader patterns of polysubstance use that many communities are
addressing through integrated approaches combining prevention,
harm reduction, treatment and cultural supports. ISC’s role is to
support this continuum in partnership with Indigenous
communities and organizations.

[Translation]

The committee’s report raises important questions about
economic opportunity, governance and public health.

Across these areas, Indigenous Services Canada’s role remains
consistent: supporting community-driven priorities within
existing federal frameworks, strengthening Indigenous
governance capacity and working with partners to address gaps
where they exist.

[English)

As the legal cannabis market continues to evolve, approaches
will continue to be shaped by Indigenous governments, federal
partners and provincial systems working together within a
complex regulatory environment.

Thank you.

The Deputy Chair: Thank you. I will now invite Mr. Weiner
to make his opening comments.

You have the floor, sir.

sur l’utilisation des terres comparativement a la Loi sur les
Indiens. La mise en ceuvre varie en fonction de la préparation
institutionnelle, de la coordination réglementaire et des priorités
locales.

En termes pratiques, ces cadres peuvent soutenir un plus grand
contrdle sur [1’utilisation des terres et sur les activités
économiques, y compris les décisions liées au cannabis.
Cependant, ils ne sont pas déterminants en soi et ne remplacent
pas les exigences réglementaires fédérales ou provinciales, les
considérations relatives a 1’application de la loi ou I’accés au
capital et aux marchés.

En matiére de santé publique et de bien-étre communautaire,
SAC soutient un continuum de services de bien-étre mental
dirigés par les Autochtones. Cela comprend le financement de
45 programmes de traitement de la toxicomanie gérés par des
Autochtones, ainsi que des équipes mobiles d’intervention en
situation de crise et des services de prévention, de traitement et
de rétablissement ancrés dans la culture a travers le pays.

La toxicomanie, y compris le cannabis, doit étre comprise dans
le cadre plus large des habitudes de polyconsommation que de
nombreuses communautés abordent par des approches intégrées
combinant prévention, réduction des méfaits, traitement et
soutiens culturels. Le role de SAC est de soutenir ce continuum
en partenariat avec les communautés et les organisations
autochtones.

[Frangais]

Le rapport du comité souléve des questions importantes sur les
possibilités économiques, la gouvernance et la santé publique.

Dans tous ces domaines, le role de Services aux Autochtones
Canada demeure constant : soutenir les priorités définies par les
communautés dans le cadre des structures fédérales existantes,
renforcer la capacité de gouvernance autochtone et travailler
avec les partenaires pour combler les lacunes lorsqu’elles
existent.

[Traduction]

Alors que le marché 1égal du cannabis continue d’évoluer, les
approches continueront d’étre faconnées par les gouvernements
autochtones, les partenaires fédéraux et les systémes provinciaux
travaillant ensemble dans un environnement réglementaire
complexe.

Je vous remercie.

La vice-présidente : Je vous remercie. Je vais maintenant
inviter M. Weiner a présenter sa déclaration préliminaire.

A vous la parole, monsieur Weiner.
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Darren Weiner, Director, Excise Duty Division, Canada
Revenue Agency: Thank you for the invitation to participate in
today’s hearing. My name is Darren Weiner, and I’'m the
Director of the Excise Duty Division at the Canada Revenue
Agency, or CRA. In my role, I oversee the overall administration
of the excise duty programs for tobacco, alcohol, vaping
products and cannabis.

The CRA administers the cannabis duty program under the
provisions of the Excise Act, 2001. The CRA regulates the legal
cannabis industry at the producer level. As part of the CRA’s
cannabis program, our role focuses on licensing, producer
outreach, audits and providing technical guidance to ensure
licensees are meeting their obligations.

The CRA works very closely with the Department of Finance
Canada, which is responsible for cannabis tax policy.

The CRA’s role is to consider interpretive positions and
application issues. In respect of tax law in Canada, the CRA is
responsible for its administration. As such, we appreciate this
opportunity to discuss the CRA’s administration in the areas that
are applicable to the committee’s areas of focus today.

We also work closely with Health Canada on the matter of
licensing. I should underline here that to apply for or renew a
cannabis licence from the CRA, an entity must first obtain a
valid licence or permit issued under the Cannabis Act by Health
Canada.

I would further note that our mandate does not include issues
relating to the illicit cannabis market. That would come under
the responsibility of the RCMP, the Canada Border Services
Agency and other law enforcement agencies.

With that, I would be pleased to answer any questions you
may have on the administration of the CRA’s cannabis program.
Thank you.

The Deputy Chair: Thank you both very much for your
opening comments.

I wish to remind members that you will each have a maximum
of five minutes for your questions and answers. Senators and
witnesses, please be precise.

Senator Francis: This is for any or all who would like to
answer the question.

Darren Weiner, directeur, Division des droits d’accise,
Agence du revenu du Canada: Je vous remercie de
I’invitation a participer a ’audience d’aujourd’hui. Je m’appelle
Darren Weiner et je suis le directeur de la Division des droits
d’accise a I’Agence du revenu du Canada. Dans mon réle, je
supervise 1’administration globale des programmes de droits
d’accise visant le tabac, I’alcool, les produits de vapotage et le
cannabis.

L’Agence administre le programme de droits sur le cannabis
en vertu des dispositions de la Loi de 2001 sur l’accise.
L’Agence réglemente le secteur 1égal du cannabis au niveau des
producteurs. Dans le cadre du programme de droits sur le
cannabis de I’Agence, notre rdle porte principalement sur
I’octroi de licences, la sensibilisation des producteurs, les
vérifications et la fourniture de conseils techniques afin de
garantir que les titulaires de licences respectent leurs obligations.

L’Agence travaille en étroite collaboration avec le ministére
des Finances Canada, qui est chargé de la politique fiscale
relative au cannabis.

Le role de I’Agence consiste a examiner les questions
d’interprétation et d’application. En ce qui concerne la
l1égislation fiscale au Canada, c’est 1’Agence qui est chargée de
son application. A ce titre, nous apprécions cette occasion de
discuter de la direction de 1I’Agence dans les domaines qui
relévent aujourd’hui des priorités du comité.

Nous travaillons également en étroite collaboration avec Santé
Canada en matiére d’octroi de licences. Je tiens a souligner ici
que pour demander ou renouveler une licence de producteur de
cannabis auprés de I’ Agence, une entité doit d’abord obtenir une
licence ou un permis valide délivré par Santé Canada en vertu de
la Loi sur le cannabis.

Je tiens également a préciser que notre mandat ne couvre pas
les questions liées au marché illicite du cannabis. Ces questions
relévent de la compétence de la Gendarmerie royale du Canada,
de I’Agence des services frontaliers du Canada et d’autres
organismes d’application de la loi.

Cela étant dit, je me ferai un plaisir de répondre a toutes vos
questions concernant la gestion du programme de droits sur le
cannabis de 1I’Agence. Je vous remercie.

La vice-présidente : Merci beaucoup a vous deux pour vos
déclarations préliminaires.

Je souhaite rappeler aux membres que vous disposerez chacun
d’un maximum de cinq minutes pour vos questions et les
réponses. Sénateurs et témoins, veuillez étre précis.

Le sénateur Francis : Je m’adresse a tous
souhaitent répondre a la question.

ceux qui
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In early 2026, the police launched a series of enforcement
actions at businesses located in local First Nations communities
across Nova Scotia under the authority of Nova Scotia’s
Cannabis Control Act. Chief Terry Paul of Membertou First
Nation asserted:

. . . the Mi’kmaq have a collective treaty right to the sale of
cannabis. We have the right to self-determination in our
communities. We govern our people, lands, and priorities —
not the province . . . .

The question is this: Has the Government of Canada engaged
with Mi’kmaq First Nations regarding cannabis regulation since
this provincial enforcement action occurred? If so, please tell us
about the goals of this engagement and any public outcomes.

Mr. Cornish: I think that question might be more easily
answered in the next session, senator. That is a question for
Health Canada; they lead everything related to the act and the
regulations.

Senator Francis: Okay, thank you. I'll ask at the next
session.

Senator McCallum: Welcome, and thank you for your
presentations.

The Government of Canada opted not to include a mechanism
in the Cannabis Act enabling First Nations governments to pass
laws and bylaws regulating and enforcing the sale of cannabis on
First Nations reserve lands. Witnesses before the committee
in 2022 reported that the situation differs for First Nations by
province or territory, resulting in inconsistencies for First
Nations.

Sara Mainville, Managing Partner at JFK Law LLP, explained
that this creates inequity within the regions across Canada and is
entirely a problem that is borne by First Nations.

I wanted to go into the enforcement and prosecution of First
Nations bylaws. Since 2014, the RCMP have not enforced
bylaws on First Nations lands because prosecutors refuse to
prosecute. Since 2014, they have had no enforcement or
prosecutions, which means that the drug dealers continue to
proliferate on the reserves, including the violence that comes
with them. When that statement is made, there is a pretense that
they can enforce and prosecute on their lands and the
interjurisdictional issues that come with prosecution because that
is provincial.

Au début de 2026, la police a lancé une série de mesures
d’application de la loi dans des entreprises situées dans des
communautés locales des Premiéres Nations a travers la
Nouvelle-Ecosse en vertu de la loi provinciale sur le contrdle du
cannabis. Le chef Terry Paul de la Premiére Nation de

Membertou a affirmé ceci :

[...] les Mi’kmaq ont un droit collectif issu d’un traité
concernant la vente de cannabis. Nous avons le droit a
I’autodétermination dans nos communautés. Nous
gouvernons notre peuple, nos terres et nos priorités — pas la
province [...]

La question est la suivante : le gouvernement du Canada a-t-il
engagé des discussions avec les Premiéres Nations Mi’kmaq
concernant la réglementation du cannabis depuis ces mesures
d’application de la loi provinciale? Le cas échéant, veuillez nous
parler des objectifs de ces discussions et de tout résultat pour le
public.

M. Cornish : Je pense que vous obtiendrez plus facilement
une réponse lors de la deuxiéme partie de la séance, sénateur.
C’est une question pour Santé Canada; il est chargé de tout ce
qui concerne la loi et le réglement.

Le sénateur Francis : D’accord, merci. Je poserai cette
question durant la deuxiéme partie.

La sénatrice McCallum : Bienvenue. Je vous remercie pour
vos présentations.

Le gouvernement du Canada a choisi de ne pas inclure dans la
Loi sur le cannabis un mécanisme permettant aux gouvernements
des Premicres Nations d’adopter des lois et des reéglements
administratifs visant a encadrer et a faire respecter la vente de
cannabis sur les terres des réserves des Premiéres Nations. Des
témoins qui ont comparu devant le comité en 2022 ont déclaré
que la situation différe pour les Premicres Nations selon la
province ou le territoire, ce qui entraine des incohérences pour
les Premieres Nations.

Sara Mainville, associée directrice chez JFK Law LLP, a
expliqué que cela crée des inégalités entre les régions a travers le
Canada et constitue un probléme qui pése entiérement sur les
Premiéres Nations.

Je voulais aborder la question de 1’application des réglements
administratifs des Premiéres Nations et des poursuites liées a ces
réglements. Depuis 2014, la GRC n’applique pas les réglements
administratifs sur les terres des Premiéres Nations parce que les
procureurs refusent de poursuivre. Depuis 2014, il n’y a eu
aucune application des réglements ni poursuite, ce qui signifie
que les trafiquants de drogue continuent de proliférer dans les
réserves, ainsi que la violence qui en découle. A cet égard, on
prétend que les Premicres Nations peuvent appliquer la loi et
intenter des poursuites sur leurs terres, ce qui souléve des
questions de compétence, car cela reléve des provinces.
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How can inequity resulting from divergent provincial
regulatory frameworks for the sale of cannabis be mitigated? In
your view, are legislative or other changes required to clarify
First Nations jurisdiction under the Cannabis Act?

Before we go into that one, I need to say that I was here as part
of the Indigenous Peoples Committee in 2018. I asked Minister
Blair if it were to be taken to court, which law would supersede
the province: the federal law or First Nations jurisdiction? He
said First Nations jurisdiction. That is not the case. I wanted to
put that there.

That was done at the Standing Senate Committee on Legal and
Constitutional Affairs.

Can you answer those questions, please?

Mr. Cornish: I apologize, but, again, I think that question
might be easier for the next session, both in terms of the RCMP
and Public Safety Canada on the enforcement question. And in
relation to anything related to legislative or regulatory changes,
Health Canada has the lead.

There are bylaw-making authorities on-reserve in First Nations
communities, and there are always issues with enforcement; they
vary across the country. One of the easiest things I can contribute
to the answer today is that those who still wish to operate within
the legal framework can still do that. Within certain jurisdictions,
it seems to be working better than elsewhere. However, that is
about all I can say on that matter.

Senator McCallum: Okay.

The reason I asked you that question is because you said that
First Nations have the jurisdiction on-reserve to enforce and
prosecute. That’s why I asked you that question after you made
your remarks.

Mr. Cornish: I’m sorry if I created any confusion there. We
don’t have a role when it comes to enforcement or prosecution.
Previous iterations of ISC have played a role in bringing in
enabling legislation that allows nations to opt out of certain
aspects of the Indian Act. Some of that relates to bylaw-making
authorities over their lands. For instance, if they want to provide
leases for businesses that want to start up in the cannabis trade,
there are law-making authorities over their land management,
and then they have local bylaw-making authorities as well under
the Indian Act.

Comment peut-on atténuer les inégalités résultant des
divergences entre les cadres réglementaires provinciaux en
matiére de vente de cannabis? Selon vous, des modifications
législatives ou autres sont-elles nécessaires pour clarifier les
pouvoirs des Premicres Nations en vertu de la Loi sur le
cannabis?

Avant d’aborder ce sujet, je dois dire que j’étais ici en 2018 en
tant que membre du comité des peuples autochtones. J’ai
demandé au ministre Blair, si cela devait étre porté devant les
tribunaux, ce qui prévaudrait : la loi fédérale ou les pouvoirs des
Premiéres Nations? Il a dit les pouvoirs des Premiéres Nations.
Ce n’est pas le cas. Je tenais a le signaler.

C’était au Comité sénatorial permanent des affaires juridiques
et constitutionnelles.

Pouvez-vous répondre a ces questions, s’il vous plait?

M. Cornish : Je m’excuse, mais, encore une fois, je pense
qu’il serait plus facile pour les témoins de la GRC et de Sécurité
publique Canada de répondre a cette question concernant
I’application de la loi. Et en ce qui concerne tout ce qui touche
aux changements législatifs ou réglementaires, Santé Canada est

I’organisme responsable.

Des communautés des Premiéres Nations disposent de
pouvoirs d’adoption de réglements administratifs dans les
réserves, et il y a toujours des problémes d’application. La
situation varie a travers le pays. L’une des choses les plus
simples que je peux dire pour répondre a la question, c’est que
celles qui souhaitent continuer a opérer dans le cadre légal
peuvent toujours le faire. Dans certaines provinces, cela semble
mieux fonctionner qu’ailleurs. Cependant, c’est a peu prés tout

ce que je peux dire a ce sujet.
La sénatrice McCallum : D’accord.

La raison pour laquelle je vous ai posé€ cette question, c’est
que vous avez dit que les Premicres Nations ont le pouvoir de
faire appliquer la loi et d’intenter des poursuites sur les réserves.
C’est pourquoi je vous ai posé cette question apres que vous ayez
dit cela dans votre déclaration.

M. Cornish : Je suis désolé si j’ai créé de la confusion. Nous
n’avons aucun rdle en matiere d’application ou de poursuite.
Jadis, SAC a joué un rdle dans I’adoption de lois habilitantes
permettant aux nations de se retirer de certains aspects de la Loi
sur les Indiens. Elles disposent notamment de pouvoirs d’adopter
des réglements administratifs sur leurs territoires. Par exemple, si
elles veulent accorder des baux a des entreprises qui souhaitent
démarrer dans le commerce du cannabis, elles disposent de
pouvoirs législatifs visant la gestion de leurs terres, et elles
disposent ¢galement de pouvoirs d’adoption de réglements
administratifs en vertu de la Loi sur les Indiens.
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Different regimes can come into play, depending upon which
ones the communities have enacted. However, we don’t
necessarily play a role in anything related to enforcement.

We can approve or disallow bylaws in relation to section 83.
However, in relation to section 85.1 around intoxicants and
anything related to cannabis, it is the communities that decide,
through a majority vote, what kind of bylaws they want to have
in place for that. Otherwise, everything operates under the
Cannabis Act and the regulations under that on all things related
to cannabis.

In relation to things that speak to the business side of it, there
are different, as I said, legal regimes that can help support
creating certainty for investment and lending, and those were the
pieces I was speaking about in my opening remarks.

Senator Pate: Thank you very much, and welcome to the
witnesses. | have two questions. For the first one, I’'m going to
request that we get a detailed response in writing from each of
your departments.

The first question is: The government has provided grouped or
themed responses to the committee’s recommendations. I sit on
the Human Rights Committee. We saw a similar response to the
Human Rights of Federally-Sentenced Persons, which is an issue
that also disproportionately impacts Indigenous Peoples due to
systemic inequality and marginalization. The committee found
this was a significant barrier to government accountability and
transparency, including in regard to the government’s obligations
to Indigenous Peoples. We see the same thing with the
government response to this report, so I would like a detailed
response but also an answer to the question: Why did the
government take this approach, which does not clearly indicate
whether it has accepted or rejected each recommendation, the
status of progress toward implementation and any new measures
taken in response to each recommendation?

If you could provide that in writing, that would be great. I'm
not sure by what date we need it, Madam Chair?

The Deputy Chair: The end of next week.
Senator Pate: That would be great.

My second question is one which I'm hoping I can get a
response to today, but I’'m also happy to have the committee
receive further written information with respect to economic
inequality. Data from 2023 indicated that only 1% of federal
cannabis licences have been granted to Indigenous Peoples. This
committee recommended in 2018 — when Senator McCallum,

Différents régimes peuvent s’appliquer, selon ceux que les
communautés ont adoptés. Cependant, nous ne jouons pas
nécessairement un role dans tout ce qui concerne I’application.

Nous pouvons approuver ou refuser des reglements
administratifs relatifs a Darticle 83. Cependant, en ce qui
concerne 1’article 85.1 sur les boissons alcoolisées et tout ce qui
est lié au cannabis, ce sont les communautés qui décident, par un
vote majoritaire, du type de réglements administratifs qu’elles
souhaitent mettre en place a cet égard. Sinon, tout ce qui
concerne le cannabis reléve de la Loi sur le cannabis et le

réglement qui en découle.

En ce qui concerne les aspects commerciaux, il existe
différents régimes juridiques, comme je 1’ai dit, qui peuvent
aider a créer une certitude pour les investissements et les préts, et
ce sont de ces éléments que j’ai parlés dans ma déclaration
préliminaire.

La sénatrice Pate : Merci beaucoup et bienvenue aux
témoins. J’ai deux questions. Pour la premiére, je vais demander
que nous recevions une réponse détaillée par écrit de chacun de
vos ministeres.

Je vais y aller avec ma premiere question. Le gouvernement a
fourni des réponses regroupées ou thématiques aux
recommandations du comité. Je siége au Comité des droits de la
personne. Nous avons obtenu une réponse similaire dans le cas
du rapport Droits de la personne des personnes purgeant une
peine de ressort fédéral, une question qui touche ¢galement de
maniére disproportionnée les peuples autochtones en raison
d’inégalités et d’une marginalisation systémiques. Le comité a
conclu que cela constituait un obstacle important a Ia
responsabilité et a la transparence du gouvernement, notamment
en ce qui concerne ses obligations envers les peuples
autochtones. Nous constatons la méme chose avec la réponse du
gouvernement a ce rapport, donc j’aimerais une réponse
détaillée, mais aussi une réponse a la question suivante
Pourquoi le gouvernement a-t-il adopté cette approche, qui
n’indique pas clairement s’il a accepté ou rejeté chaque
recommandation, 1’état d’avancement de la mise en ceuvre et les
nouvelles mesures prises en réponse a chaque recommandation?

Si vous pouviez répondre par écrit, je vous en serais
reconnaissante. Je ne sais pas exactement a quelle date nous
avons besoin de cette réponse, madame la présidente.

La vice-présidente : La fin de la semaine prochaine.
La sénatrice Pate : Je vous en serais reconnaissante.

Ma deuxiéme question est une question a laquelle j’espere
pouvoir obtenir une réponse aujourd’hui, mais je serai également
heureuse que le comité regoive des renseignements ¢crits
supplémentaires concernant 1’inégalité économique. Les données
de 2023 indiquent que seulement 1 % des licences fédérales liées
au cannabis ont été accordées aux peuples autochtones. Le
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Senator Francis and a number of us were here — that 20% of
licences should go to Indigenous producers. Researchers have
pointed to systemic social and economic barriers to the
participation in the federal licensing system, from barriers to
participation for those with criminal records to less access to
capital and credit. What concrete steps is the government
implementing to ensure that Canada’s approach to cannabis does
not mean that the privileged become wealthier while those most
marginalized, particularly Indigenous Peoples, are left behind
and increasingly criminalized?

Mr. Cornish: Thank you, senator. On the first question, we’ll
have to follow up in writing. Indigenous Services Canada was
not the lead on the government response. That would have been
Health Canada.

In relation to the economic development question, what we
have seen, at least through Indigenous Services Canada, is really
a supply-and-demand answer to that question. There is just far
less interest and demand through our economic development
programs in Indigenous communities that want to enter into the
trade, whether it’s through cultivation, retail or distribution.

We have a live example. One of the programs that we have is
called the Strategic Partnerships Initiative, and it’s intended to
take a whole-of-government approach and create partnerships
with Indigenous partners where they want to advance certain
economic opportunities.

In 2022, through Health Canada and the province, we created a
partnership that was a way for communities in British Columbia
that wanted to participate in the legal trade to learn how they
could on board to do that. It includes navigating licensing
requirements, access to capital and understanding how the whole
business works, et cetera.

I think it was $8.5 million contributed: $6 million from the
Province of British Columbia and $2.5 million from Indigenous
Services Canada, and Health Canada was the lead for the
initiative. When we first did the call-out, we had over
170 expressions of interest. We funded a total of 14 projects.
Six of them were community-led First Nations projects, and
eight were individual Indigenous entrepreneurs. Of that funding
announced, only about $4.5 million has flowed so far for about
$15 million worth of project value. What we’ve found is that
initially with the expressions of interest, over 90% of them were
non-viable or kind of low-quality applications.

comit¢ a recommandé en 2018 — lorsque la sénatrice
McCallum, le sénateur Francis et plusieurs d’entre nous étions
ici — que 20 % des licences soient attribuées aux producteurs
autochtones. Les chercheurs ont souligné les obstacles sociaux et
économiques systémiques a la participation au systéme fédéral
de licences, allant des difficultés d’accés rencontrées par les
personnes ayant un casier judiciaire a un accés restreint au
capital et au crédit. Quelles mesures concrétes le gouvernement
met-il en ceuvre pour s’assurer que 1’approche du Canada en
matiére de cannabis ne profite pas uniquement aux privilégiés,
tout en laissant de c6té les personnes les plus marginalisées, en
particulier les peuples autochtones, qui sont de plus en plus
criminalisées?

M. Cornish : Je vous remercie, sénatrice. Pour la premicre
question, nous devrons y répondre par écrit. Services aux
Autochtones Canada n’était pas 1’organisme responsable de la
réponse du gouvernement. C’était plutot Santé Canada.

En ce qui concerne la question du développement économique,
ce que nous avons observé, du moins du co6té de Services aux
Autochtones Canada, c’est qu’il s’agit vraiment d’une question
d’offre et de demande. Il y a tout simplement beaucoup moins
d’intérét et de demande dans le cadre de nos programmes de
développement économique dans les communautés autochtones
qui souhaitent entrer dans le commerce, que ce soit par la
culture, la vente au détail ou la distribution.

Nous avons un exemple concret. L’un de nos programmes,
I’Initiative sur les partenariats stratégiques, vise a adopter une
approche pangouvernementale et a créer des partenariats avec
des partenaires autochtones qui souhaitent faire progresser
certaines possibilités économiques.

En 2022, par I’entremise de Santé Canada et de la province,
nous avons créé un partenariat destiné a permettre aux
communautés de la Colombie-Britannique souhaitant participer
au commerce légal d’apprendre comment elles pouvaient s’y
engager. Ce partenariat porte notamment sur les exigences en
matiére de délivrance de licences, 1’accés au capital et la
compréhension du fonctionnement global de ce secteur, etc.

Je pense que la contribution s’¢élevait a 8,5 millions de dollars :
6 millions de la province de la Colombie-Britannique et
2,5 millions de Services aux Autochtones Canada. Santé Canada
était le ministére responsable de ’initiative. Lorsque nous avons
lancé D’appel, nous avons regu plus de 170 manifestations
d’intérét. Nous avons financé un total de 14 projets. Six d’entre
eux étaient des projets des Premieres Nations dirigés par la
communauté et huit étaient des projets menés par des
entrepreneurs autochtones individuels. Sur ce financement
annoncé, seulement environ 4,5 millions de dollars ont été versés
jusqu’a présent a des projets dont la valeur totalise environ
15 millions de dollars. Ce que nous avons constaté, c’est
qu’initialement, plus de 90 % des manifestations d’intérét étaient
des demandes non viables ou de qualité plutot faible.



28:10

Indigenous Peoples

28-4-2026

There was limited Indigenous community capacity to either
lead projects or advance them. When we actually started
engaging and consulting with communities, of the — I think —
close to 70 or 80 communities we reached out to, many just
indicated this wasn’t the right time or they really had no interest
in doing that.

Another problem we had with it was that non-Indigenous
people were trying to access the program or businesses through
it, so we had to be a little more vigilant that way.

We also added a cannabis navigator function to help
Indigenous communities navigate the licensing process. On our
other community-based programs that apply across the country,
through the Community Opportunity Readiness Program and the
Lands and Economic Development Services Program, which I
mentioned in our opening remarks, we have only funded about
22 projects in the last six years. That’s on an envelope of
$60-0odd million a year. We just don’t see the demand coming
in for it. It is one of the reasons, I would say, for the
recommendation as opposed to an Indigenous-led agency to
support economic participation in the trade. There just isn’t the
demand for it.

Right now, the interest is in other sectors of the economy. That
is probably the simplest answer I can provide, but we can also
follow that up in writing as well.

Senator Pate: I'm not Indigenous, so I don’t live in an
Indigenous community, but I have experience with a similar sort
of provision that was put into corrections legislation 34 years ago
that provided an opportunity for Indigenous organizations and
communities to access resources to reclaim their community
members who had been criminalized.

People didn’t know that this existed because it was put into the
law, but there was virtually no information sent out. I understand
you said that you have sent out information, so I would be
interested in more detail about that information outreach.

The government then set up its own policies that essentially
precluded or dictated how Indigenous organizations could run
those particular, in this case, section 81 and 84 opportunities for
people to house prisoners and parolees in their communities. The
federal government dictated how that would be implemented,
and then the advice came back that people weren’t actually
interested in doing it that way, which made a lot of sense
because it was dictated from above.

La capacité des communautés autochtones a diriger ou a faire
progresser les projets était limitée. Lorsque nous avons
commencé a consulter les communautés, parmi les — je
pense — prés de 70 ou 80 communautés que nous avons
contactées, plusieurs ont simplement indiqué que ce n’était pas le
bon moment ou qu’elles n’avaient vraiment aucun intérét a faire

cela.

Un autre probléme que nous avons rencontré était que des
personnes non autochtones essayaient d’accéder au programme
ou aux entreprises par son intermédiaire, donc nous avons di étre
un peu plus vigilants a cet égard.

Nous avons également ajouté un service d’intervenants-pivots
pour aider les communautés autochtones a se retrouver dans le
processus d’obtention d’une licence de cannabis. Dans nos autres
programmes communautaires qui s’appliquent a 1’échelle du
pays, dans le cadre du Programme de préparation des
collectivités aux possibilités économiques et du Programme des
services relatifs aux terres et au développement économique, que
j’ai mentionnés dans ma déclaration préliminaire, nous n’avons
financé qu’environ 22 projets au cours des six dernicres années.
L’enveloppe est d’environ 60 millions de dollars par an. Nous ne
constatons tout simplement pas de demande en la matiere. C’est
I’'une des raisons, je dirais, pour lesquelles nous ne
recommandons pas de créer un organisme dirigé par des
Autochtones afin de soutenir la participation économique a ce
secteur. Il n’y a tout simplement pas de demande pour cela.

En ce moment, I’intérét se porte sur d’autres secteurs de
I’économie. C’est probablement la réponse la plus simple que je
puisse fournir, mais nous pouvons en dire davantage dans une
réponse écrite.

La sénatrice Pate : Je ne suis pas autochtone, donc je ne vis
pas dans une communauté autochtone, mais je possede de
I’expérience avec une disposition similaire qui a été intégrée
dans la législation correctionnelle il y a 34 ans et qui offrait aux
organisations et communautés autochtones la possibilité
d’accéder a des ressources pour récupérer les membres de leur
communauté qui avaient été criminalisés.

Les gens ne savaient pas que cela existait, parce que cela a été
inscrit dans la loi, mais pratiquement aucune information n’a été
diffusée. Vous avez dit avoir envoy¢ des renseignements, donc je
serais intéressée par plus de détails concernant cette diffusion de
renseignements.

Le gouvernement a ensuite mis en place ses propres politiques
qui, en substance, excluaient ou dictaient la maniére dont les
organisations autochtones pouvaient gérer ces possibilités
particuliéres. Dans ce cas précis, les articles 81 et 84
permettaient aux gens d’héberger des prisonniers et des libérés
conditionnels dans leurs communautés. Le gouvernement fédéral
a dicté comment cela serait mis en ceuvre, puis on a appris que
les gens ne souhaitaient pas en fait le faire de cette maniere, ce
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I’m wondering if it is a similar process happening here. It
would be historically familiar for me to hear that there wasn’t
uptake because people often didn’t know about it. There were
also issues around whether sufficient support was provided to
build capacity within the community and whether there was
follow-through on that versus a change to an up-down or
down-up or the dictating of an approach that wouldn’t
necessarily meet the needs of the community. Then as the
community gains capacity, the community is not seen to fit into
the government’s model. I’'m wondering if that is a part of this as
well.

It is some 20 years on, but it sounds like a very similar process
to one I know, unfortunately, very intimately.

Mr. Cornish: In the example I provided, through the British
Columbia initiative, it was not government officials doing the
direct outreach. In this partnership, the main delivery partner was
New Relationship Trust, which is an Indigenous-led
organization. We have a contribution agreement with them, and
they do outreach to the communities. The other partners there are
the Indigenous financial institutions of which three in British
Columbia participated, so that is for small business lending.

They help provide business development and capacity
supports, as did New Relationship Trust. Step one is: Is there a
business opportunity here for us? Can we do a market study or a
feasibility study? What capacity do we need to build up
internally to participate in the trade? We’re here to support that,
but it’s our partners who are the primary delivery agents in that
sense. I don’t know if that answers the question.

Senator Pate: Well, I would be interested to know if there is
then a difference in where those organizations operate and the
number of Indigenous communities involved as a result, and that
would be great information for the committee to have as well.

Mr. Cornish: Okay.

Senator Prosper: Thank you to all our witnesses for being
here. Mr. Cornish, I’'m going to provide a couple of questions.
I’m just curious: Further to your testimony, I want to get a
specific role for your department, Indigenous Services Canada. [

qui avait beaucoup de sens parce que cela avait été dicté
d’en haut.

Je me demande si le processus est similaire ici. Cela ne
m’étonnerait pas d’apprendre qu’il n’y a pas eu de participation
parce que les gens n’étaient souvent pas informés. Il y avait
également la question de savoir si un soutien suffisant avait été
fourni pour renforcer les capacités au sein de la communauté et
s’il y avait eu un suivi a cet égard, par opposition a un
changement de direction, soit de haut en bas ou de bas en haut,
ou a I’imposition d’une approche qui ne répondrait pas
nécessairement aux besoins de la communauté. Puis, a mesure
que la communauté renforce ses capacités, elle n’est plus pergue
comme correspondant au modeéle du gouvernement. Je me
demande si cela fait aussi partie du probléme.

Cela fait environ 20 ans, mais cela ressemble a un processus
trés similaire que je connais, malheureusement, pour I’avoir vécu
de trées pres.

M. Cornish : Dans I’exemple que j’ai fourni, dans le cadre de
I’initiative de la Colombie-Britannique, ce ne sont pas des
représentants du gouvernement qui ont mené les efforts de
communication. Dans ce partenariat, le principal partenaire était
la New Relationship Trust, une organisation dirigée par des
Autochtones. Nous avons une entente de contribution avec elle,
et elle fait du travail de communication aupres des
communautés. Les autres partenaires sont les institutions
financiéres autochtones, dont trois en Colombie-Britannique ont
participé a I’initiative, qui porte sur I’octroi de préts aux petites
entreprises.

Elles contribuent a offrir du soutien au développement des
affaires et au renforcement des capacités, tout comme 1’a fait la
New Relationship Trust. La premiére étape consiste a se
demander : Y a-t-il une occasion d’affaires ici pour nous?
Pouvons-nous réaliser une étude de marché ou une étude de
faisabilité? Quelle capacité devons-nous développer en interne
pour participer au commerce? Nous sommes la pour apporter
notre soutien, mais ce sont nos partenaires qui sont les
principaux acteurs de la mise en ceuvre a cet égard. J’ignore si
cela répond a la question.

La sénatrice Pate : Eh bien, je serais curieuse de savoir s’il
existe une différence quant aux régions ou ceuvrent ces
organisations et, par conséquent, au nombre de communautés
autochtones concernées. Il s’agirait 1a de renseignements trés
utiles pour le comité également.

M. Cornish : D’accord.

Le sénateur Prosper : Merci a tous nos témoins d’étre
présents. Monsieur Cornish, je vais vous poser quelques
questions. Je suis simplement curieux. A la suite de votre
témoignage, j’aimerais mieux cerner le role précis de votre
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note your title does encompass lands and economic development.
There are a lot of complexities to cannabis and developing a
regime with respect to cannabis in First Nations communities.

You mentioned Health Canada takes the lead role, but
obviously, there is a role there for Indigenous Services Canada.
Getting back to a question from Senator McCallum with respect
to bylaws, you mentioned the implementation of bylaws is more
within the purview of Health Canada. I just want to confirm that.
What, if any, role does your department take with respect to
bylaws in terms of getting the recognition?

Mr. Cornish: Under the Indian Act, there are three primary
areas that relate to bylaws: sections 81, 83 and 85.1. Section 81
bylaws are primarily municipal-type bylaws, like local traffic
enforcement, et cetera.

Section 83 bylaws relate to money matters. That’s if they want
to put in local property taxes or leasing and the collection of
moneys.

Section 85.1 relates to intoxicants. Those bylaws generally
have to be a majority vote of the community, so if a community
doesn’t want to have cannabis in its community, for instance, or
if it’s a dry community, then they can do that through the Indian
Act.

Senator Prosper: Thank you, Mr. Cornish. More specifically,
what I’m looking at with respect to those bylaws is your role and
the role of your department. I note that you’re, in part,
responsible for lands and economic development. What role do
you fulfill with respect to the development and recognition of
band bylaws?

Mr. Cornish: I’'m not an expert on the bylaws section,
senator. I can certainly follow up on that.

Under the enabling legislation that I mentioned earlier around
the First Nations Land Management Act, there is an organization
that supports communities in developing their bylaws. We don’t
directly participate in the development of bylaws. It used to be
that, in one case, the minister had the authority to approve or
disallow bylaws. That’s no longer the case for section 81 bylaws.
With the section 85.1 bylaws, it’s up to the community to decide.
For enforcement, we don’t play any role when it comes to
enforcement.

ministére, Services aux Autochtones Canada. Je note que votre
champ de compétence englobe les terres et le développement
économique. La question du cannabis et la mise en place d’un
régime en la matiére dans les communautés des Premicres
Nations présentent de nombreuses complexités.

Vous avez mentionné que Santé Canada joue un role de
premier plan, mais il est évident que Services aux Autochtones
Canada a également un r6le & jouer. Pour revenir a une question
de la sénatrice McCallum concernant les réglements
administratifs, vous avez mentionné que la mise en ccuvre de
réglements administratifs reléve davantage de la compétence de
Santé Canada. Je voudrais juste m’en assurer. Quel role, le cas
échéant, votre ministére joue-t-il en ce qui concerne les
réglements administratifs dans le cadre du processus de
reconnaissance?

M. Cornish : En vertu de la Loi sur les Indiens, trois articles
principaux traitent des réglements administratifs : les articles 81,
83 et 85.1. Les réglements administratifs visés a 1’article 81 sont
principalement des réglements administratifs de type municipal,
comme ceux relatifs a 1’application du code de la route a
I’échelon local, etc.

Les réglements administratifs visés a 1’article 83 concernent
ceux relatifs aux questions financieres, notamment la perception
des taxes foncieres locales ou la location et la perception de
sommes d’argent.

L’article 85.1 concerne les boissons alcoolisées. Les
réglements administratifs doivent généralement étre approuvés a
la majorité par la communauté, donc si une communauté ne
souhaite pas avoir de cannabis, par exemple, ou si c’est une
communauté sans alcool, elle peut le faire conformément a la Loi
sur les Indiens.

Le sénateur Prosper : Merci, monsieur Cornish. Plus
précisément, ce que j’examine en ce qui concerne ces réglements
administratifs, c’est votre role et le role de votre ministére. Je
note que vous &tes, en autres, responsable des terres et du
développement économique. Quel rdle jouez-vous en ce qui
concerne 1’¢laboration et la reconnaissance des réglements
administratifs des bandes?

M. Cornish : Je ne suis pas un expert en matiére de
réglements administratifs, sénateur, mais je peux certainement
répondre a votre question.

En vertu de la loi habilitante que j’ai mentionnée plus tot
concernant la Loi sur la gestion des terres des premiéres nations,
il existe une organisation qui soutient les communautés dans
I’¢laboration de leurs réglements administratifs. Nous ne
participons pas directement a 1’¢élaboration des reglements
administratifs. Par le passé, dans certains cas, le ministre avait le
pouvoir d’approuver ou de rejeter les réglements administratifs.
Il n’en va plus ainsi pour les réglements administratifs visés a
I’article 81. En ce qui concerne les réglements administratifs
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Senator Prosper: What I take from your evidence is that
there is somewhat of a vacuum there with respect to the role of
your department and with respect to the bylaws and the
recognition of them.

My next question is more along the lines of economic and
business opportunities. You get into, I believe, 22 projects with
$60 million annually allocated for opportunities, but part of your
evidence suggests that you just don’t see the demand there with
respect to communities, noting other priorities. I’m just curious
what, if any, reporting or data collection you have in your
possession that would support this position that First Nations just
don’t view it as a priority. Have you consulted with those
relevant First Nations? More specifically, what are the criteria
that you find that First Nations undertake where they’re
successful in filling in that area of cannabis in terms of
jurisdiction and the market opportunity related to that? Thank
you, Mr. Cornish.

Mr. Cornish: Thank you, senator. The Lands and Economic
Development Services Program and the Community Opportunity
Readiness Program are the two primary community-based
programs for First Nations and Inuit for small business
development. All of our regional offices work very closely with
all the communities in the regions, and when a community
applies, we look at their project. Normally, the first program
helps them develop what that business opportunity might be. The
second program starts to provide capital to actually get the
business off the ground.

In relation to cannabis, when I mentioned there has only been
a handful of projects, that’s relatively speaking. The annual
budget for the Community Opportunity Readiness Program is
$50 million to $60 million. It varies with our regular and
enhanced funding. We’ve averaged about three cannabis-related
projects a year, and it has been about $250,000 per project out of
that $60 million. These are the applications that are coming in
where communities are saying, “We’re interested in potentially
doing a cultivation business or a retail business.” Relative to
other business opportunities they want to pursue is what I meant
when I said we’re just not seeing the demand.

In the last eight years, there have only been a total of
22 projects that communities have come to us with and said,
“We would like you to support a business opportunity here.”

visés a D’article 85.1, c’est a la communauté qu’il revient de
décider. Quant a I’application de ces réglements administratifs,
nous n’avons aucun role a jouer.

Le sénateur Prosper : Ce que je retiens de votre témoignage,
c’est qu’il y a en quelque sorte un vide a cet €¢gard en ce qui
concerne le rdle de votre ministére ainsi que les réglements

administratifs et leur reconnaissance.

Ma prochaine question porte davantage sur les possibilités
économiques et commerciales. Vous participez, je crois, a
22 projets avec 60 millions de dollars alloués annuellement pour
ces possibilités, mais une partie de votre témoignage suggere que
vous ne constatez tout simplement pas de demande dans les
communautés, car elles ont d’autres priorités. Je suis simplement
curieux de savoir quelles données ou quels rapports, le cas
échéant, vous possédez pour appuyer cette position selon
laquelle les Premiéres Nations ne considérent tout simplement
pas cela comme une priorité. Avez-vous consulté les Premiéres
Nations concernées? Plus précisément, quels sont les critéres que
vous trouvez chez les Premiéres Nations qui réussissent dans le
domaine du cannabis en termes de compétence et de débouchés?
Merci, monsieur Cornish.

M. Cornish : Je vous remercie, sénateur. Le Programme des
services relatifs aux terres et au développement économique et le
Programme pour la préparation des collectivités aux possibilités
économiques sont les deux principaux programmes
communautaires destinés aux Premiéres Nations et aux Inuits
pour le développement des petites entreprises. Tous nos bureaux
régionaux travaillent en étroite collaboration avec toutes les
communautés des régions, et lorsqu’une communauté présente
une demande, nous examinons son projet. Normalement, le
premier programme 1’aide a développer ce que pourrait étre une
occasion d’affaires. Le deuxiéme programme commence a
fournir des capitaux pour réellement lancer 1’entreprise.

En ce qui concerne le cannabis, lorsque j’ai mentionné qu’il
n’y avait eu qu’une poignée de projets, c’est en termes relatifs.
Le budget annuel du Programme pour la préparation des
collectivités aux possibilités économiques est de 50 a 60 millions
de dollars. Cela varie selon notre financement régulier et
amélioré. Nous avons réalis€ en moyenne environ trois projets
liés au cannabis par année, avec un colt d’environ 250 000 $ par
projet sur ce total de 60 millions de dollars. Il s’agit des
demandes que nous recevons de la part de communautés qui
nous disent : « Nous souhaitons potentiellement démarrer une
entreprise de culture ou une entreprise de vente au détail. » Par
rapport a d’autres occasions d’affaires qu’elles souhaitent
poursuivre, c’est ce que je voulais dire lorsque j’ai dit que nous
ne constatons tout simplement pas de demande.

Au cours des huit derniéres années, il n’y a eu qu’un total de
22 projets pour lesquels des communautés sont venues nous voir
en disant : « Nous aimerions que vous souteniez une occasion
d’affaires. »
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Senator Prosper: For those communities who have come
forward, what are some of the typical challenges or barriers that
they face? How do you work, essentially, with Health Canada to
deal with some of those issues with respect to the application of
your programming and First Nations wanting to step forward to
deal with cannabis for the benefit of their communities?

Mr. Cornish: On the economic side, as I mentioned, we’ll
help provide funding if they want to do a feasibility study or a
market study. We also help in developing a business plan or a
business case and connect them with Indigenous financial
institutions if they need to access capital. Access to capital is
always a barrier in some measure. One particular reason is that
cannabis is not considered by some as a legitimate business. For
instance, it used to be that under our programs, you could not
apply for funding related to cannabis. Once it became legal, we
changed the terms and conditions of the program to say you
could.

Senator Prosper: How dependent is the success of those
ventures on having space available by the provincial or territorial
government? Is it the case that they just don’t see that as an
opportunity for First Nations and, in terms of your programming,
they’re basically offline if that’s the case?

How does provincial and territorial jurisdiction over cannabis
undermine those opportunities for First Nations that want to
pursue your programming?

Mr. Cornish: Thank you for the question. All of our
programming, in the first instance, has to be part of the legal
trade. You must be able to have a licence to operate a cannabis
business, whether cultivation or retail. All the licensing normally
happens through the provincial and territorial jurisdictions.

In some cases, there have been agreements, like in British
Columbia, where they’re fine to work with nations to do that,
and in some other jurisdictions, it’s not as advanced. But
everything related to the legal and regulatory side of it has to go
through Health Canada and the jurisdiction in which they’re
trying to operate. Once those conditions are met, then you can
become a legal business and apply for funding.

Senator Sorensen: Welcome to our meeting. I have two
questions for the Department of Finance and the CRA, but I also
have a point of clarity and I’m not sure who can start with that.

Le sénateur Prosper : Pour les communautés qui se sont
manifestées, quels sont certains des défis ou obstacles typiques
auxquels elles font face? Concrétement, comment
collaborez-vous avec Santé Canada pour traiter certaines de ces
questions liées & la mise en ceuvre de vos programmes et aux
Premieéres Nations qui souhaitent prendre des mesures
concernant le cannabis dans I’intérét de leurs communautés?

M. Cornish : Du coté économique, comme je 1’ai mentionné,
nous aiderons a fournir un financement si elles souhaitent
réaliser une étude de faisabilité ou une étude de marché. Nous les
aidons également a élaborer un plan d’activités ou une analyse
de rentabilité et nous les mettons en contact avec des institutions
financiéres autochtones si elles ont besoin d’accéder a du capital.
L’accés au capital est toujours un obstacle dans une certaine
mesure. Une raison particuliére est que le cannabis n’est pas
considéré par certains comme une entreprise légitime. Par
exemple, il était auparavant impossible, dans le cadre de nos
programmes, de demander un financement lié au cannabis. Une
fois que cela a été 1égalisé, nous avons modifi¢ les conditions
générales du programme pour préciser que c’était possible.

Le sénateur Prosper : Dans quelle mesure le succés de ces
entreprises dépend-il de la disponibilité¢ d’espaces fournis par le
gouvernement provincial ou territorial? Est-ce qu’il ne voit tout
simplement pas cela comme une possibilité pour les Premiéres
Nations et, en ce qui concerne vos programmes, il n’est pas sur
la méme longueur d’onde?

Comment la compétence provinciale et territoriale en maticre
de cannabis compromet-elle les possibilités pour les Premieres
Nations qui souhaitent bénéficier de vos programmes?

M. Cornish : Merci de la question. Tous nos programmes,
dans un premier temps, visent les activités qui s’inscrivent dans
le cadre du commerce légal. Il faut détenir une licence pour
exploiter une entreprise liée au cannabis, que ce soit pour la
culture ou la vente au détail. La délivrance des licences reléve
normalement de la compétence des autorités provinciales et
territoriales.

Dans certains cas, il y a eu des accords, comme en Colombie-
Britannique, ou le gouvernement provincial ou territorial est
disposé a collaborer avec les nations autochtones a cette fin,
tandis que dans d’autres provinces ou territoires, on n’en est pas
encore la. Mais tout ce qui concerne les aspects juridiques et
réglementaires doit passer par Santé Canada et par la province ou
le territoire ou 1’entreprise souhaite exercer ses activités. Une
fois que ces conditions sont remplies, elle peut devenir une
entreprise 1égale et demander un financement.

La sénatrice Sorensen : Bienvenue a notre réunion. J’ai deux
questions pour le ministére des Finances Canada et I’ARC, mais
j’aimerais également demander des explications et je ne sais pas
qui pourrait y répondre en premier.
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What I’'m hearing is that there is a relatively low number of
in-community dispensaries across the country. So that’s the point
of clarity I’'m looking for. But assuming there are some, my
questions are these: The committee report suggested that an
excise tax-sharing framework for First Nations should be
developed to share revenues more broadly. I'm looking for a
comment about progress on that. Second, have revenues from
cannabis sales in community been used to mitigate some of the
social issues arising from the legalization of cannabis in order to
benefit those communities? First of all, on the point of clarity,
I’ve heard a couple of times that the number of dispensaries in
community is relatively low across the country. Who wants to go
there?

Mr. Cornish: I don’t have the data on that. Health Canada
might have that in terms of the numbers that have been licensed.
The ones we’ve been speaking to are the ones where we’ve
provided financial support from an economic point of view.

Senator Sorensen: All right. I’ll turn it over to the numbers
people.

Lesley Taylor, Director General, Intergovernmental Tax
Policy, Evaluation and Research Division, Department of
Finance Canada: Thank you, senator. My apologies, I'm
battling laryngitis, so please give me a signal if it’s not loud
enough.

Thank you for the report and the invitation to be here today. It
obviously raises a number of important issues.

The wording toward the end of the recommendation regarding
the excise taxation was situated with respect to our new fuel,
alcohol, cannabis and tobacco, or FACT, tax regime. We’re
pleased to provide an update that with the passage of Bill C-15,
the framework legislation for that new regime is now in place.
That is the first in a number of steps that we will need to
undertake to get to the point of tax being levied under
Indigenous laws on Indigenous lands for those communities that
are interested in participating in that framework.

That framework relates to the application of the sales tax to
cannabis products. Again, that is a different tax base than excise.
That is where the government’s priority is at this point in that
we’ve committed to going ahead with this framework. The law is
now in place federally as a framework.

The next stages are continuing with the outreach and
engagement that we’ve had with many communities throughout
Canada that have come forward as either just curious about this

Ce que j’entends, c’est qu’il y a un nombre relativement faible
de dispensaires au sein des communautés a travers le pays. C’est
donc sur ce point que j’aimerais obtenir des explications. Mais
en supposant qu’il y en ait, voici mes questions. Dans son
rapport, le comité a suggéré qu’un cadre de partage de la taxe
d’accise pour les Premiéres Nations soit élaboré afin de répartir
les revenus de maniére plus large. Je voudrais qu’on me parle
des progres réalisés a ce sujet. Deuxiémement, les revenus
provenant des ventes de cannabis dans les communautés ont-ils
été utilisés pour atténuer certains des problémes sociaux
découlant de la légalisation du cannabis, dans 1’intérét de ces
communautés? Tout d’abord, j’aimerais obtenir des explications
sur le fait que le nombre de dispensaires dans les communautés
est relativement faible a travers le pays, d’aprés ce que j’ai
entendu dire a quelques reprises. Qui souhaite répondre?

M. Cornish : Je n’ai pas les données & ce sujet. Santé Canada
pourrait avoir ces chiffres en ce qui concerne le nombre
d’entreprises ayant obtenu une licence. Celles a qui nous avons
parlé sont celles a qui nous avons fourni un soutien financier
d’un point de vue économique.

La sénatrice Sorensen : D’accord. Je laisse la parole aux
experts en chiffres.

Lesley Taylor, directrice générale, Division de la politique
fiscale intergouvernementale, de I’évaluation et de la
recherche, ministére des Finances Canada : Je vous remercie,
sénatrice. Je m’excuse, je souffre d’une laryngite, alors veuillez
me faire signe si ma voix n’est pas assez forte.

Je vous remercie pour le rapport et pour 1’invitation a étre ici
aujourd’hui. Cela souléve évidemment un certain nombre de
questions importantes.

La formulation vers la fin de la recommandation concernant la
taxe d’accise s’inscrivait dans le cadre de notre nouveau régime
fiscal sur le carburant, I’alcool, le cannabis et le tabac, ou régime
de la taxe sur le CACT. Nous sommes heureux de vous informer
qu’avec ’adoption du projet de loi C-15, la loi-cadre pour ce
nouveau régime est désormais en place. C’est la premiére étape
parmi plusieurs que nous devrons entreprendre pour en arriver a
ce que des taxes soient prélevées en vertu des lois autochtones
sur les terres autochtones, pour les communautés qui souhaitent
participer a ce cadre.

Ce cadre concerne l’application de la taxe de vente aux
produits du cannabis. Encore une fois, il s’agit d’une assiette
fiscale différente de celle de I’accise. C’est 1a que se situe la
priorit¢ du gouvernement a ce stade, car nous nous sommes
engagés a aller de I’avant avec ce cadre. La loi est maintenant en
place au niveau fédéral en tant que cadre.

Les prochaines étapes consistent a poursuivre le travail de
communication que nous avons mené¢ aupres de nombreuses
communautés a travers le Canada, qui se sont manifestées soit
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regime or interested in actually being early adopters and first
proponents.

The next phases will be the negotiation of tax administration
agreements with these interested communities. They will then
impose laws under their own framework. We will step back
federally from applying the GST. There are the processes that
allow the Indigenous laws to take up that room and take up that
jurisdiction.

Once those revenues start flowing and once these agreements
are in place and once our partners at the CRA begin
administering — essentially free of charge — these taxes, the
revenues become revenues of the communities and the
governments that have enacted them. That’s important because
there will be no conditionality there. That’s revenue for these
communities for their own priorities to be spent as they wish.

Cannabis is obviously an important part of that. That’s driving
interest in a number of communities. In terms of some of the
other questions here today about ways that communities can
actually start to benefit economically, the Department of Finance
is certainly in favour of advancing these kinds of agreements.

Excise is different. Under the Constitution, only the federal
government has the excise jurisdiction. Even the provinces and
territories do not have excise jurisdiction. It’s a very complex
field. Part of it relates to how the tax is applied. It is applied
upstream at that producer level or importer level, and frequently
the tax is passed through in the price of the good to ultimate
consumers. You have a disconnect between the incidence of the
tax at the final consumer and where it’s paid and collected back
to the Government of Canada.

It raises a number of questions about how that would actually
work in practice, how it could work and how you would deal
with issues of fairness, where you have communities with a lot
of production but which don’t have many consumers paying the
tax as ultimate consumers and buyers of the final product, yet
there is a big production facility.

Again, how any of that would work is very challenging. Going
back to the FACT tax regime, its framework is now in place. We
are very excited to be moving forward. We’re happy to be
engaging across the country for the next couple of months. We
hope to see those agreements come on stream and hope to get
money flowing as quickly as possible, essentially.

par simple curiosité a 1’égard de ce régime, soit parce qu’elles
souhaitent étre les premieres a 1’adopter et a le promouvoir.

Les prochaines ¢étapes seront la négociation des accords
d’administration fiscale avec ces communautés intéressées. Elles
imposeront ensuite des lois dans le cadre de leur propre systéme.
Nous renoncerons a appliquer la TPS au niveau fédéral. Il existe
des processus qui permettent aux lois autochtones de prendre en
charge cette taxe et cette compétence.

Une fois que ces revenus commenceront a affluer, que ces
accords seront en place et que nos partenaires de I’ARC
commenceront a gérer — essentiellement sans frais — ces taxes,
les revenus deviendront les revenus des communautés et des
gouvernements qui les ont adoptées. C’est important parce qu’il
n’y aura aucune conditionnalité. C’est un revenu pour ces
communautés, destiné a leurs propres priorités, a dépenser
comme elles le souhaitent.

Le cannabis fait évidemment partie intégrante de cela. Cela
suscite de 1’intérét dans un certain nombre de communautés. En
ce qui concerne certaines des autres questions abordées
aujourd’hui sur les moyens pour les communautés de commencer
a bénéficier économiquement, le ministére des Finances Canada
est certainement en faveur de la promotion de ce genre
d’accords.

La taxe d’accise est différente. En vertu de la constitution, seul
le gouvernement fédéral a la compétence en matiere d’accise.
Méme les provinces et les territoires n’ont pas de compétence en
matiére d’accise. C’est un domaine trés complexe. Une partie
concerne la maniére dont la taxe est appliquée. Elle est appliquée
en amont, au niveau du producteur ou de I’importateur, et
fréquemment la taxe est répercutée dans le prix du bien aux
consommateurs finaux. Il y a un décalage entre I’incidence de la
taxe sur le consommateur final et 1’endroit ou elle est payée et
recouvrée par le gouvernement du Canada.

Cela souléve un certain nombre de questions sur la manicre
dont cela fonctionnerait réellement en pratique, comment cela
pourrait fonctionner et comment vous géreriez les questions
d’équité, lorsque vous avez des communautés avec une grande
production, mais qui n’ont pas beaucoup de consommateurs
payant la taxe en tant que consommateurs finaux et acheteurs du
produit final, alors qu’il y a une grande installation de
production.

Encore une fois, la maniére dont tout cela fonctionnerait est
trés complexe. En ce qui a trait au régime de la taxe sur le
CACT, son cadre est maintenant en place. Nous sommes trés
enthousiastes a 1’idée d’aller de 1’avant. Nous sommes heureux
d’entamer des discussions a travers le pays au cours des
prochains mois. Nous espérons que ces accords entreront en
vigueur et que les fonds commenceront a circuler aussi

rapidement que possible.
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Senator Sorensen: So it was Bill C-15 that allowed that?

Ms. Taylor: Correct, yes.

Senator Sorensen: Good to know. I didn’t make the

connection.

Maybe this isn’t a question for this group — it might be for
the next panel — but there’s the idea of the social issues arising
from the legalization of cannabis, specifically in Indigenous
communities, and if there are revenues being directed to deal
with some of those social issues. But that might not be
something that you’re aware of.

Mr. Cornish: We don’t direct communities in terms of what
they do with their own revenues.

Senator Sorensen: Okay.

Mr. Cornish: Certainly, on the economic side, where we’ve
seen communities with strong own-source revenue capacity, that
has made a very big difference in their ability to provide
additional programs, services and supports to their members.
Anything related to community-owned businesses, which is
primarily what we support, the intention there is that they’re like
their own little Crown corporations. Those revenues and
dividends are paid back to the community for the general use and
benefit of all their members. Very often, that goes into things
like elder care, cultural programming, et cetera. I don’t have any
numbers on that, but the communities decide what to do with
their revenues. We don’t direct it by saying you must spend it
here or there.

Senator Sorensen: Thank you very much.

Senator Karetak-Lindell: Thank you for the information,
and thank you to the presenters. This is along the lines of the
recent questions.

I’ve sat on many boards that lend out money to entrepreneurs
in Nunavut, and the biggest difficulty they seem to encounter is
the CRA and financial reporting.

With the numbers put in of how many people were interested,
how many people got to the next level and with so few people at
the end, is that in relation to the difficult process of reporting
requirements, keeping up with the CRA and contributions? Is
there any financial support for these organizations to respond to
the paperwork? I ask because in my experience, it has been an
onerous task only on the entrepreneur to meet Canada’s request
for reporting and getting their corporate taxes in, and they just
fail at that part even though they had a good idea for a business.
They get drowned in administration requests. Do you find that’s
the case also with some of these applicants, which started with so

La sénatrice Sorensen : Donc, c’est le projet de loi C-15 qui
a permis cela?

Mme Taylor : Oui, c’est exact.

La sénatrice Sorensen : Pratique a savoir. Je n’avais pas fait
le lien.

Peut-étre que ce n’est pas une question pour ce groupe de
témoins — cela pourrait étre pour le prochain — mais il y a la
question des problémes sociaux découlant de la légalisation du
cannabis, en particulier dans les communautés autochtones, et je
me demandais si une partie des revenus sont dirigés pour traiter
certains de ces problémes sociaux. Ce n’est peut-étre pas quelque
chose dont vous €tes au courant.

M. Cornish : Nous ne dictons pas aux communautés

comment utiliser leurs propres revenus.
La sénatrice Sorensen : D’accord.

M. Cornish : Certes, sur le plan économique, la ou nous
avons vu des communautés avec une forte capacité de revenus
propres, cela a fait une trés grande différence dans leur capacité a
offrir des programmes, des services et des soutiens
supplémentaires a leurs membres. En ce qui concerne les
entreprises appartenant a la communauté, que nous soutenons
principalement, ’intention est qu’elles fonctionnent comme de
petites sociétés d’Etat. Ces revenus et dividendes sont reversés a
la communauté pour ’'usage général et le bénéfice de tous ses
membres. Trés souvent, cet argent va dans des domaines comme
les soins aux personnes agées, les programmes culturels, etc. Je
n’ai pas de chiffres a ce sujet, mais ce sont les communautés qui
décident de ce qu’elles font de leurs revenus. Nous ne leur
imposons pas de les dépenser ici ou la.

La sénatrice Sorensen : Merci beaucoup.

La sénatrice  Karetak-Lindell : Merci  pour  ces
renseignements et merci aux intervenants. Ceci s’inscrit en ligne
avec les questions récentes.

J’ai siégé a de nombreux conseils qui prétent de 1’argent aux
entrepreneurs du Nunavut et la plus grande difficulté qu’ils
semblent rencontrer concerne I’ARC et la production de rapports
financiers.

Au vu des chiffres indiquant le nombre de personnes
intéressées, le nombre de celles qui sont passées a 1’étape
suivante et le nombre trés restreint de personnes a la fin, cela
est-il 1ié a la complexité des exigences en matiére de déclaration,
du suivi avec ’ARC et des cotisations? Existe-t-il un soutien
financier pour aider ces organisations a faire face a la paperasse?
Je demande cela parce que, d’aprés mon expérience, c’est une
tache lourde pour les entrepreneurs de répondre aux exigences de
déclaration du Canada et de payer 1’imp6t des sociétés, et ils
échouent simplement a cette étape méme s’ils avaient une bonne
idée d’entreprise. Ils sont submergés par les demandes



28:18

Indigenous Peoples

28-4-2026

many numbers yet you only get a few filtering through? Thank
you.

Mr. Weiner: I'll just talk a little bit about the excise
administration. Certainly, there is a lot of paperwork that needs
to be filled out. Specifically, for the duty program for cannabis,
we have a very robust outreach program. That means that for any
licensee, whether Indigenous or non-Indigenous, who requires
assistance to help fill out their forms or help to comply with the
legislation, we’re available to help. If they want help with the
paperwork through an on-site visit or if they want a virtual visit,
we’re there to help them comply with the legislation.

Cannabis and the duty programs are quite small at the CRA, so
we do have the ability to provide very high-level support to
ensure that they are complying with their obligations.

Senator Karetak-Lindell: Just to follow up on that, when we
look at letters coming from the CRA, I think most people don’t
see that line where it says to please call them if any help is
required. There needs to be better outreach in dealing with that
part because most people panic as soon as they see a letter from
the CRA. There needs to be capacity building with any
interaction, especially with Indigenous communities that don’t
trust the system as it is. Even in my previous role, I found that
people were very reluctant to call the CRA to have a friendly
conversation.

The amount of paperwork and dealing with financial reporting
might be deterring people from participating in this endeavour.
Thank you.

Senator Clement: I want to follow up on some of those
comments made by Senator Karetak-Lindell.

I introduced myself earlier. I'm from Cornwall, which is on
Mohawk territory. My questions will be for the Department of
Finance folks.

The Mohawk Council of Kahnawa:ke just announced they are
not going to do any cannabis at all, so I’'m curious about how
your departments build relationships with Indigenous
communities. What are you doing? ISC has told us; we have
some idea of that. What do you do in order to build trust, and
how do you reach out? ISC has told us that sometimes they use
intermediaries and New Relationship Trust. Do your departments
use Indigenous organizations to build relationships to
communicate?

administratives. Trouvez-vous que c’est également le cas pour
certains de ces demandeurs, qui ont commencé en grand nombre,
mais dont seuls quelques-uns réussissent? Je vous remercie.

M. Weiner : Je vais simplement parler un peu de
I’administration de la taxe d’accise. Certainement, il y a
beaucoup de paperasse a remplir. Plus précisément, le
programme des droits d’accise sur le cannabis dispose d’un
programme d’aide trés solide. Cela signifie que nous sommes
disponibles pour aider tout titulaire de licence, qu’il soit
autochtone ou non, qui nécessite de 1’aide pour remplir ses
formulaires ou pour se conformer a la législation. S’ils
souhaitent de I’aide avec la paperasse lors d’une visite sur place
ou s’ils préferent une consultation virtuelle, nous sommes la pour
les aider a se conformer a la 1égislation.

Les programmes sur le cannabis et les droits d’accise sont
assez restreints a I’ARC, alors nous avons la capacité de fournir
un soutien de trés haut niveau pour garantir qu’ils respectent
leurs obligations.

La sénatrice Karetak-Lindell : Juste pour faire un suivi a ce
sujet, lorsque nous regardons les lettres provenant de I’ARC, je
pense que la plupart des gens ne voient pas cette ligne ou il est
écrit d’appeler 1’agence s’ils ont besoin d’aide. Il faut améliorer
la sensibilisation a ce sujet, car la plupart des gens paniquent dés
qu’ils voient une lettre de I’ARC. Il est nécessaire de renforcer
les capacités lors de toute interaction, en particulier avec les
communautés autochtones qui ne font pas confiance au systéme
tel qu’il est. Méme dans mon rdle précédent, j’ai constaté que les
gens ¢taient trés réticents a appeler I’ARC pour avoir une
conversation amicale.

La quantité de paperasse et la gestion des rapports financiers
pourraient décourager les gens de participer a cette entreprise. Je
vous remercie.

La sénatrice Clement : Je souhaite faire un suivi sur certains
des commentaires faits par la sénatrice Karetak-Lindell.

Je me suis présentée plus tot. Je viens de Cornwall, qui se
trouve sur le territoire mohawk. Mes questions s’adresseront aux
représentants du ministere des Finances Canada.

Le Conseil des Mohawks de Kahnawa:ke vient d’annoncer
qu’il ne s’engagera pas du tout dans le secteur du cannabis, donc
je suis curieuse de savoir comment vos services établissent des
relations avec les communautés autochtones. Que faites-vous?
SAC nous I’a dit; nous en avons une certaine idée. Que
faites-vous pour instaurer la confiance, et comment prenez-vous
contact? SAC nous a dit qu’il utilise parfois des intermédiaires et
la New Relationship Trust. Vos services utilisent-ils des
organisations autochtones pour ¢établir des relations et
communiquer?
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I just want to give an example of a frustration. In Cornwall, we
co-own property with the Mohawk Council of Akwesasne. It’s
waterfront property. There is huge economic development
potential, but we’re stuck. The city can tax, but the Mohawk
Council of Akwesasne cannot tax in the same way. We’re trying
to be partners, but the taxation differences mean that we’re not
able to come together on a lot of financial pieces.

If you could, please speak to economic development and how
we’re going to build trust and actually build projects together
that could really lead to some reconciliation and great economic
development for municipalities and Indigenous and First Nations
communities.

Brent Almond, Senior Director, Indigenous Tax Policy,
Department of Finance Canada: Thank you very much,
senator, for the question and the concerns you raised around
economic development.

I was thinking about responses to the first part of your
comments as you were speaking, and I will admit that
developing relationships is challenging. There is a natural
mistrust of the federal government, but at Finance Canada and in
the Tax Policy Branch, we have worked very hard over a number
of years to develop those relationships by being as
straightforward and as forthright as we can be in terms of our
roles and how we can support Indigenous governments that
might be interested in generating revenues through taxation.

To be more specific, we don’t and have not relied upon
intermediaries, certainly not in recent years or for quite a number
of years that I’ve been involved in these files and in this role.
However, we do use — as other committee members and
senators may be aware — organizations like the First Nations
Tax Commission. Institutions under the First Nations Fiscal
Management Act don’t play a formal role with us, but when
interests align — and quite often, on tax jurisdiction matters,
interests do align in terms of the benefits of the revenues that can
be generated through taxation — the First Nations Tax
Commission and other institutions play a very symbiotic role
with the Department of Finance Canada.

That definitely does support our work in terms of credibility
and building trust.

Again, it’s very clear that many communities feel more
comfortable having the discussions with an Indigenous-led
organization rather than me and federal officials. That’s very
helpful.

Je veux juste donner un exemple de frustration. A Cornwall,
nous possédons conjointement une propriété avec le Conseil des
Mohawks d’Akwesasne. C’est une propriété en bord de 1’eau. I1
y a un énorme potentiel de développement économique, mais
nous sommes bloqués. La ville peut imposer des taxes, mais le
Conseil des Mohawks d’Akwesasne ne peut pas imposer des
taxes de la méme maniére. Nous essayons d’étre partenaires,
mais les différences fiscales font que nous ne pouvons pas nous
entendre sur plusieurs aspects financiers.

Si vous le pouvez, veuillez parler du développement
économique et de la maniére dont nous allons instaurer la
confiance et réellement réaliser des projets ensemble qui
pourraient véritablement mener a une réconciliation et a un
excellent développement économique pour les municipalités
ainsi que pour les communautés autochtones et des Premicres
Nations.

Brent Almond, directeur principal, Section de la politique
fiscale autochtone, ministére des Finances Canada : Merci
beaucoup, sénatrice, pour la question et les préoccupations que
vous avez soulevées concernant le développement économique.

Je réfléchissais aux réponses a la premiére partie de vos
commentaires pendant que vous parliez, et je dois admettre que
développer des relations est un défi. Il existe une méfiance
naturelle envers le gouvernement fédéral, mais au ministére des
Finances Canada et a la Direction de la politique fiscale, nous
avons travaillé trés fort pendant plusieurs années pour
développer ces relations en étant aussi directs et francs que
possible quant a nos rdles et a la maniére dont nous pouvons
soutenir les gouvernements autochtones qui pourraient souhaiter
générer des revenus par la fiscalité.

Pour étre plus précis, nous ne dépendons pas et n’avons pas
dépendu d’intermédiaires, certainement pas ces dernicres années
ni depuis les nombreuses années que je suis impliqué dans ces
dossiers et que j’occupe ce poste. Cependant, nous utilisons —
comme d’autres membres du comité et sénateurs le savent
peut-étre — des organisations telles que la Commission de la
fiscalité des premiéres nations. Les institutions relevant de la Loi
sur la gestion financiére des premiéres nations ne jouent pas de
role officiel auprés de nous, mais lorsque les intéréts
convergent — et trés souvent, en matiére de compétence fiscale,
les intéréts convergent en ce qui concerne les avantages des
revenus pouvant étre générés par la fiscalité — la Commission
de la fiscalité des premiéres nations et d’autres institutions jouent
un réle trés symbiotique avec le ministére des Finances Canada.

Cela soutient définitivement notre travail en termes de
crédibilité et de renforcement de la confiance.

Encore une fois, il est trés clair que de nombreuses
communautés se sentent plus a 1’aise de tenir ces discussions
avec une organisation dirigée par des Autochtones plutdt qu’avec
moi et des fonctionnaires fédéraux. C’est tres utile.
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To underscore this, it is a challenge in our work. Building
those relationships and maintaining that level of trust are
challenges, but we continue to work as best as we can on that.
Sometimes there are opportunities for symbiotic relations, such
as with the First Nations Tax Commission.

On the second point regarding the challenges around
jurisdiction and development opportunities, I’m not an expert in
this area, but I would make a comment acknowledging that it is a
very challenging area. You have a situation where multiple
jurisdictions are involved. I had the opportunity several years
ago to tour with the Grand Chief of Akwesasne. I theoretically
knew about the level of jurisdictional challenges, but I saw them
on the ground. They were pretty incredible. It is not easy to
overcome those challenges jurisdictionally, but as an example,
I’'m thinking about where there might be opportunities. Where
one government has clear jurisdiction in an area, let’s say, there
would potentially be opportunities to do innovative solutions
around revenue sharing or things like that to balance the benefits
of projects.

However, since I’'m not an expert in that area, I’ll leave it at
that. Thank you very much for the question.

Senator Clement: I’ll follow up. Thank you.

The Deputy Chair: In looking at the time, the time for this
panel is complete. I wish to thank all of our witnesses for coming
today. Thank you. I know you were asked to submit some
written documents, but if you have any others that you would
like to submit, please feel free to email them to the clerk.

For our second panel of witnesses, we welcome at the table,
from the Royal Canadian Mounted Police, Jennifer Ebert,
Assistant Commissioner, Operational Policing Services,
Indigenous, Provincial, Territorial and Municipal Policing; from
Public Safety Canada, Adrian Walraven, Director General,
Indigenous Affairs; and via video conference, from Health
Canada, John Clare, Director General, Strategic Policy
Directorate, Controlled Substances and Cannabis Branch.

Thanks to all of you for joining us here today. Our witnesses
will provide us with opening remarks of approximately five
minutes each, which will be followed by a question-and-answer
session with senators.

I will now invite Ms. Ebert to give her opening remarks,
followed by Mr. Walraven and Mr. Clare.

Pour souligner ce point, cela représente un défi dans notre
travail. Etablir ces relations et maintenir ce niveau de confiance
représentent un défi, mais nous continuons a travailler du mieux
que nous pouvons a cet égard. Parfois, il y a des possibilités de
relations symbiotiques, comme avec la Commission de la
fiscalité des premiéres nations.

Au sujet du deuxiéme point concernant les défis liés aux
sphéres de compétence et aux possibilités de développement, je
ne suis pas un expert dans ce domaine, mais je peux dire que
c’est un domaine trés difficile. On se trouve face a une situation
ou plusieurs spheres de compétence sont impliquées. J’ai eu
I’occasion, il y a plusieurs années, de faire une tournée avec le
grand chef d’Akwesasne. Je connaissais en théorie I’ampleur des
défis liés aux champs de compétence, mais je les ai vus sur le
terrain. Ils étaient plutot incroyables. II n’est pas facile de
surmonter ces défis, mais a titre d’exemple, je réfléchis aux
domaines ou il pourrait y avoir des possibilités. Lorsqu’un
gouvernement a une compétence claire dans un domaine, disons,
il pourrait y avoir des possibilités pour élaborer des solutions
innovantes en matiére de partage des revenus ou d’autres
mesures similaires afin d’équilibrer les avantages des projets.

Cependant, comme je ne suis pas un expert dans ce domaine,
je m’arréterai la. Merci beaucoup pour la question.

La sénatrice Clement : J’assurerai un suivi la-dessus. Je
vous remercie.

La vice-présidente : En regardant 1’heure, je constate que le
temps alloué¢ a ce groupe de témoins est terminé. Je tiens a
remercier tous nos témoins d’étre venus aujourd’hui. Je vous
remercie. Je sais qu’on vous a demandé de soumettre certains
documents écrits, mais si vous en avez d’autres que vous
souhaitez soumettre, n’hésitez pas a les envoyer par courriel au
greffier.

Je vais présenter notre deuxiéme groupe de témoins, nous
accueillons, de la Gendarmerie royale du Canada, Jennifer Ebert,
commissaire adjointe, Services de police opérationnels, Services
de police autochtones, provinciaux, territoriaux et municipaux;
de Sécurité publique Canada, Adrian Walraven, directeur
général, Secteur des affaires autochtones; et, par
vidéoconférence, de Santé Canada, John Clare, directeur général,
Direction de la politique stratégique, Direction générale des
substances contrdlées et du cannabis.

Merci a vous tous de vous joindre & nous ici aujourd’hui. Nos
témoins nous présenteront des déclarations préliminaires
d’environ cinq minutes, suivies d’une période de questions et
réponses avec les sénateurs.

Je vais maintenant inviter Mme Ebert a présenter sa
déclaration préliminaire, suivie de M. Walraven et de M. Clare.
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Jennifer Ebert, Assistant Commissioner, Operational
Policing Services, Indigenous, Provincial, Territorial and
Municipal Policing, Royal Canadian Mounted Police: Good
morning, chair and honourable members of the committee.
Thank you for the invitation to appear today as we gather on the
traditional and unceded territory of the Anishinaabe Nation and
recognize the continuing presence of First Nations, Inuit and
Meétis people in this region.

I am Assistant Commissioner Jennifer Ebert, and 1 am
responsible for operational policing services under the RCMP’s
Indigenous, Provincial, Territorial and Municipal Policing
business line. In addition to my role within national
headquarters, I also bring 28 years of operational front-line
policing experience across two territories and five provinces,
spanning from the Prairies to the Atlantic, where I served as the
commanding officer in both P.E.I. and Newfoundland and
Labrador.

The Royal Canadian Mounted Police, or RCMP, recognizes
the significance of this report and the lived realities it reflects.
The issues identified by the committee, particularly those related
to jurisdiction, enforcement and policing capacity, are grounded
in testimony from Indigenous leaders, community
representatives and policing professionals. They reflect
persistent, real-world challenges experienced by communities
and law enforcement alike.

As Canada’s national police service, the RCMP’s mandate
encompasses the enforcement of federal law, including the
Cannabis Act, alongside the delivery of policing services that
support community safety through partnership with provinces,
territories and Indigenous governments. In many Indigenous
communities, this work occurs within complex legal and
governance environments, requiring careful engagement with all
partners.

The RCMP recognizes that organized crime may target
vulnerable and Indigenous communities to exploit legal markets.
We will continue to work with partners, including First Nations
police services, to continue to investigate illegal drug production
and trafficking, including cannabis. Ensuring the safety and
well-being of Indigenous communities is a top priority for the
RCMP.

The committee heard testimony that the Cannabis Act does not
provide First Nations with clear authority to regulate or enforce
cannabis laws on their lands. From an operational policing
perspective, this presents challenges, as policing services must
operate within a legal environment where federal enforcement
responsibilities coexist with evolving expectations around the
enforcement of band bylaws without a fully aligned regulatory or
legislative framework.

Jennifer Ebert, commissaire adjointe, Services de police
opérationnels, Services de police autochtones, provinciaux,
territoriaux et municipaux, Gendarmerie royale du
Canada : Bonjour, madame la présidente et honorables
membres du comité. Je vous remercie de m’avoir invitée a
prendre la parole aujourd’hui, alors que nous sommes réunis sur
le territoire traditionnel non cédé de la nation anishinabe et que
nous reconnaissons la présence continue des Premicres Nations,
des Inuits et des Métis dans la région.

Je m’appelle Jennifer Ebert, commissaire adjointe, et je suis
responsable des Services de police opérationnels au sein des
Services de police autochtones, provinciaux, territoriaux et
municipaux de la GRC. En plus de mon role au sein du quartier
général national, j’apporte également 28 ans d’expérience
opérationnelle de premiére ligne acquise dans deux territoires et
cinq provinces, allant des Prairies a 1’ Atlantique, ou j’ai servi en
tant que commandante divisionnaire a la fois a 1’fle-du-Prince-
Edouard et a Terre-Neuve-et-Labrador.

La Gendarmerie royale du Canada, ou GRC, reconnait
I’importance de ce rapport et les réalités vécues qu’il refléte. Les
enjeux soulevés par le comité, en particulier ceux liés a
I’exercice des compétences, a 1’application de la loi et aux
capacités policiéres, sont fondés sur les témoignages de
dirigeants autochtones, de représentants communautaires et de
professionnels de la police, et refletent les défis persistants et
concrets auxquels sont confrontées les communautés, ainsi que
les forces de I’ordre.

Le mandat de la GRC, en tant que service de police national
du Canada, englobe 1’application de la loi fédérale, y compris la
Loi sur le cannabis, ainsi que la prestation de services de police
qui favorisent la sécurité communautaire grace a des partenariats
avec les gouvernements provinciaux, territoriaux et autochtones.
Dans de nombreuses collectivités autochtones, ce travail s’inscrit
dans des contextes juridiques et de gouvernance complexes, ce
qui nécessite une collaboration étroite avec tous les partenaires.

La GRC est également consciente que le crime organisé peut
cibler les collectivités vulnérables et autochtones pour exploiter
les marchés l1égaux. Nous continuerons de travailler avec des
partenaires, notamment les services de police des Premiéres
Nations, pour poursuivre les enquétes sur la production et le
trafic de drogues illégales, y compris le cannabis. Assurer la
sécurité et le bien-étre des communautés autochtones est une
priorité absolue pour la GRC.

Le comité a entendu des témoignages selon lesquels la Loi sur
le cannabis ne confére pas aux Premiéres Nations le pouvoir clair
d’établir des regles au sujet des activités liées au cannabis ou
d’en assurer I’application sur leurs terres. D’un point de vue
opérationnel, cela présente des défis, car les services de police
doivent exercer leurs activités dans un contexte juridique ou les
responsabilités fédérales en matiére d’application coexistent avec
I’évolution des attentes a 1’égard de I’application des réglements
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The RCMP has the legal authority to enforce all valid
Canadian laws, whether they be federal, provincial, territorial or
Indigenous laws, consistent with core policing activities
associated with the maintenance of public safety while also
maintaining discretion in the decisions regarding when to
enforce these laws. The RCMP acknowledges the challenges
around band bylaw enforcement and Indigenous communities’
desires to exercise their respective local governance authorities
as well as expectations around cannabis regulation.

The RCMP agrees with the committee’s observation that these
gaps can contribute to the growth of illicit cannabis operations,
some of which are associated with organized crime, which
increases violence and impaired driving and elevates community
safety concerns.

In the absence of clear and coordinated frameworks,
enforcement responses risk being inconsistent, reactive and
contentious for communities. Impaired driving, whether it is
related to cannabis, alcohol or other substances, poses a
significant risk. The RCMP is engaging First Nations police
agencies to ensure awareness of and access to drug recognition
expert training course opportunities. The RCMP acknowledges
that, historically, access to drug recognition expert training has
been constrained by capacity and demand. We recognize the
committee’s concern, and we are committed to working
continually with Public Safety Canada and Indigenous policing
partners to improve access in a manner that is sustainable and
responsive to community needs, providing greater road safety
and stronger enforcement outcomes for communities.

It is important to emphasize that policing alone cannot resolve
the challenges identified in the committee report. These efforts
can also be supported by jurisdictional clarity, legislative
recognition of Indigenous laws and sustainable funding models.
While these areas are beyond the RCMP’s purview, they do have
an influence on policing outcomes.

From the RCMP’s perspective, clear legal authorities benefit
everyone. They provide certainty to communities, legitimacy to
Indigenous governance and operational clarity for police officers
tasked with maintaining public safety. They also reduce the risk
of conflict between police services, community leadership and
other orders of government.

des bandes, sans qu’il existe un cadre réglementaire ou législatif
pleinement harmonisé.

La GRC dispose du pouvoir 1égal de faire respecter toutes les
lois canadiennes en vigueur, qu’elles soient fédérales,
provinciales, territoriales ou autochtones, dans le cadre de ses
activités policiéres de base associées au maintien de la sécurité
publique, mais elle conserve également un pouvoir
discrétionnaire pour les décisions concernant le moment ou
appliquer ces lois. La GRC reconnait les défis liés a 1’application
des réglements des bandes et les aspirations des collectivités
autochtones d’exercer leurs pouvoirs de gouvernance locale
respectifs, ainsi que les attentes concernant la réglementation du
cannabis.

La GRC appuie 1’observation du comité qui soutient que ces
lacunes peuvent contribuer a 1’augmentation des activités illicites
liées au cannabis, dont certaines sont associées a I’activité
criminelle organisée, ce qui augmente la violence, la conduite
avec facultés affaiblies et les préoccupations relatives a la
sécurité dans les collectivités.

En I’absence de cadres clairs et coordonnés, les mesures
d’application de la loi risquent d’étre incohérentes, réactives et
contestées par les communautés. La conduite avec facultés
affaiblies, qu’elle soit liée au cannabis, a ’alcool ou a d’autres
substances, présente un risque important. La GRC communique
avec les services de police des Premiéres Nations afin de les
informer des possibilités de participation au programme d’expert
en reconnaissance des drogues. La GRC reconnait que, dans le
passé, I’accés a la formation d’expert en reconnaissance des
drogues a été limité en raison des questions de capacité et de la
demande. Nous prenons acte des préoccupations du comité et
nous nous engageons a collaborer avec Sécurité publique Canada
et nos partenaires policiers autochtones afin d’améliorer 1’acces
de facon durable et adaptée aux besoins des collectivités, ce qui
permettra d’accroitre la sécurité routiére et d’obtenir de meilleurs
résultats en matiére d’application de la loi pour les
communautés.

Il est important de souligner que les services de police ne
peuvent a eux seuls résoudre les défis relevés dans le rapport du
comité. Les efforts peuvent également étre soutenus par une
détermination claire des champs de compétence, Ila
reconnaissance législative des lois autochtones et des modeles de
financement durables. Bien que ces éléments ne soient pas du
ressort de la GRC, ils ont une incidence sur les résultats des
services de police.

Du point de vue de la GRC, des compétences juridiques bien
définies profitent a tous. Elles procurent une certitude aux
collectivités, une légitimité a la gouvernance autochtone et une
clarté opérationnelle aux agents de police chargés d’assurer la
sécurité publique. Elles réduisent également le risque de conflit
entre les services de police, les dirigeants communautaires et les
autres ordres de gouvernement.
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The RCMP remains committed to reconciliation through
respectful partnership, and we will continue to work closely with
Indigenous police services, Indigenous leadership and federal
partners to support community-led approaches to public safety.

This committee’s work is an important contribution to these
efforts.

In closing, the RCMP welcomes continued dialogue on how
the government response can translate into practical, on-the-
ground improvements. We stand ready to support initiatives that
enhance clarity, safety and trust, while recognizing that enduring
solutions must be Indigenous-informed and legislatively sound.

Thank you. I look forward to your questions.
The Deputy Chair: Thank you, Ms. Ebert.
Mr. Walraven, you have the floor.

Adrian Walraven, Director General, Indigenous Affairs,
Public Safety Canada: Good morning. Thank you, honourable
chair and committee members, for having me back again today
as we gather here on the traditional and unceded territory of the
Anishinaabe Algonquin Nation.

I will be shortening some of my opening remarks, having
heard some of the questions this morning. I will try to tailor my
opening remarks in that regard.

I am the Director General of Indigenous Affairs at Public
Safety Canada. In that capacity, I am responsible for the First
Nations and Inuit Policing Program, which has some relevance
to some of the conversations I think we will have here today.

[Translation)

As we look to the future of First Nations and Inuit policing,
and safety in Indigenous communities, it is essential to
acknowledge the commitments that guide our efforts.

[English]

The Government of Canada, in close collaboration with First
Nations and Inuit communities, as well as provincial and
territorial partners, is committed to supporting Indigenous
policing and community safety in a manner that responds to their
unique needs and supports self-determination. This work is
supported by recent federal investments, notably Budget 2024, in
the First Nations and Inuit Policing Program, or FNIPP, as well

La GRC reste déterminée a promouvoir la réconciliation par le
biais de partenariats respectueux. Nous continuerons de travailler
en étroite collaboration avec les services de police autochtones,
les dirigeants autochtones et les partenaires fédéraux pour
soutenir les approches communautaires en matiére de sécurité
publique.

Les travaux du comité constituent une contribution importante
a ces efforts.

En conclusion, la GRC encourage la poursuite du dialogue sur
la facon dont la réponse du gouvernement peut se traduire en
améliorations concrétes sur le terrain. Nous sommes préts a
soutenir les initiatives qui améliorent la clarté, la sécurité et la
confiance, et reconnaissons que des solutions durables doivent
étre adaptées aux perspectives autochtones et fondées sur le plan
juridique.

Merci. Je répondrai avec plaisir a vos questions.
La vice-présidente : Je vous remercie, madame Ebert.
Monsieur Walraven, la parole est a vous.

Adrian Walraven, directeur général, Secteur des affaires
autochtones, Sécurité publique Canada : Bonjour. Merci,
honorable présidente et membres du comité, de m’avoir de
nouveau invité aujourd’hui, alors que nous nous réunissons ici
sur le territoire traditionnel et non cédé de la nation algonquine
anishinabe.

Je vais raccourcir une partie de ma déclaration préliminaire,
aprés avoir entendu certaines des questions posées ce matin. Je
vais essayer d’adapter ma déclaration préliminaire en
conséquence.

Je suis le directeur général du Secteur des affaires autochtones
a Sécurité publique Canada. A ce titre, je suis responsable du
Programme des services de police des Premiéres Nations et des
Inuit, qui a une certaine pertinence pour certaines des
conversations que nous aurons, je pense, ici aujourd’hui.

[Frangais]

Alors que nous nous tournons vers ’avenir des services de
police des Premiéres Nations et des Inuit et de la sécurité dans
les communautés autochtones, il est essentiel de reconnaitre les
engagements qui guident nos efforts.

[Traduction]

Le gouvernement du Canada, en étroite collaboration avec les
communautés des Premiéres Nations et des Inuits, ainsi qu’avec
des partenaires provinciaux et territoriaux, s’engage a soutenir
les services de police autochtones et la sécurité communautaire
d’une manieére qui répond a leurs besoins uniques et favorise
I’autodétermination. Ce travail est soutenu par les récents
investissements fédéraux, notamment dans le budget de 2024,
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as the First Nations and Inuit Policing Facilities Program, or
FNIPFP. In the fiscal year that just ended, we invested
approximately $393 million in the FNIPP and just over
$21 million in the FNIPFP, which is the infrastructure program.
The majority of this funding is focused on supporting the
stabilization of the 36 First Nations and Inuit police services that
operate across Canada so that they can provide the dedicated and
culturally responsive policing services that communities deserve.

The second major thrust of our programming under the FNIPP
is to support enhanced policing in First Nations and Inuit
communities, including an annual financial transfer that we send
to the RCMP to support augmented numbers of RCMP regular
members in First Nations and Inuit communities. As may be
relevant to today’s conversation, under the FNIPP, we are
increasingly supporting First Nations community safety officers
who, as a complement to police officers, support community
safety outcomes in First Nations and Inuit communities.

[Translation]

Although we have made significant progress, we recognize
that there is still much work to be done.

[English]

In November 2025 and February 2026, at the request of the
honourable members of the House of Commons Standing
Committee on Indigenous and Northern Affairs, the
Parliamentary Budget Officer prepared two reports on First
Nations and Inuit policing. Notably, the second report estimated
that the annual federal funding gap for First Nations and Inuit
police services is approximately $232 million as of 2026-27.

We thank the Parliamentary Budget Officer for this analysis.
Public Safety Canada is now using those findings to inform our
forward options for both programs.

Madam Chair, I want to reiterate my department’s ongoing
commitment to working in partnership with First Nations and
Inuit communities, alongside provincial and territorial
governments, so that policing in First Nations communities is
supported by professional, dedicated and culturally responsive
police officers.

dans le Programme des services de police des Premiéres Nations
et des Inuit, ou PSPPNI, ainsi que dans le Programme des
installations de services de police des Premiéres Nations et des
Inuits, ou PISPPNI. Au cours de 1’exercice financier qui vient de
se terminer, nous avons investi environ 393 millions de dollars
dans le PSPPNI et un peu plus de 21 millions de dollars dans le
PISPPNI, qui est le programme d’infrastructures. La majorité de
ce financement est axée sur le soutien a la stabilisation des
36 services de police des Premiéres Nations et des Inuits qui
exercent leurs activités partout au Canada afin qu’ils puissent
offrir les services de police spécialisés et culturellement adaptés
que les communautés méritent.

Le deuxiéme axe principal du PSPPNI est de soutenir le
renforcement des services de police dans les communautés des
Premiéres Nations et des Inuits, notamment par le biais d’un
transfert financier annuel que nous envoyons a la GRC pour
soutenir un nombre accru de membres réguliers de la GRC dans
les communautés des Premiéres Nations et des Inuits. Comme
cela peut étre pertinent pour la conversation d’aujourd’hui, je
tiens a dire que, dans le cadre du PSPPNI, nous soutenons de
plus en plus les agents de sécurité communautaire des Premiéres
Nations qui, en complément des agents de police, contribuent a
la sécurité dans les communautés des Premieres Nations et des
Inuits.

[Frangais]

Bien que nous ayons accompli des progrés importants, nous
reconnaissons qu’il reste encore beaucoup a faire.

[Traduction]

En novembre 2025 et février 2026, a la demande des
honorables membres du Comité permanent des affaires
autochtones et du Nord de la Chambre des communes, le
directeur parlementaire du budget a préparé deux rapports sur les
services de police des Premiéres Nations et des Inuits. Il
convient de noter que le deuxiéme rapport a estimé que le
manque de financement fédéral pour les services de police des
Premicres Nations et des Inuits est d’environ 232 millions de
dollars en 2026-2027.

Nous remercions le directeur parlementaire du budget pour
cette analyse. Sécurité publique Canada utilise maintenant ces
constatations pour orienter ses options futures pour les deux
programmes.

Madame la présidente, je tiens a réitérer I’engagement continu
de mon ministére a travailler en partenariat avec les
communautés des Premiéres Nations et des Inuits, ainsi qu’avec
les gouvernements provinciaux et territoriaux, afin que le
maintien de I’ordre dans les communautés des Premiéres Nations
soit assuré par des policiers professionnels, dévoués et

culturellement sensibles.
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[Translation]

In conclusion, I would like to thank the committee for giving
me the opportunity to speak today.

Thank you. Meegwetch.

[English)]
The Deputy Chair: Thank you, Mr. Walraven.
Mr. Clare, you now have the floor.

John Clare, Director General, Strategic Policy Directorate,
Controlled Substances and Cannabis Branch, Health
Canada: Thank you, Madam Chair and honourable senators. I
will also be modifying and shortening my remarks. I am joining
you today from Revelstoke, B.C., which is the home of the
Sinixt, Ktunaxa, Secwépemc and Syilx First Nations. I thank
them for their stewardship of this beautiful land.

My remarks today build upon previous updates provided by
Health Canada to this committee in 2022 as well as the
government response in March 2024 to this committee’s twelfth
report.

In that response, the government highlighted Health Canada’s
ongoing commitment to engage with this committee to address
any concerns in the government response, as well as any actions
taken to respond to recommendations from the Legislative
Review of the Cannabis Act.

Members of this committee will recall that their twelfth report
was tabled in the context of the statutory review of the Cannabis
Act. With respect to that review, the Minister of Health and the
Minister of Mental Health and Addictions launched that review
in September 2022 by appointing an independent expert panel.
The expert panel was mandated to consider impacts on First
Nations, Inuit and Métis peoples and communities, as well as
impacts on Indigenous Peoples, racialized communities and
women who might be at greater risk of harm or face barriers to
participation in the legal cannabis industry.

The expert panel engaged broadly, including with Indigenous
governments, communities and organizations, to gather
perspectives to inform the review. They adopted a distinctions-
based approach in engagement with First Nations, Inuit and
Meétis, which included meetings with the Assembly of First
Nations, representatives of the four Inuit regions, the Manitoba
Meétis Federation, the Métis National Council as well as several
specific individual First Nations communities.

[Frangais]

En conclusion, je tiens a remercier le comité de m’avoir
permis de prendre la parole aujourd’hui.

Merci. Meegwetch.

[Traduction]
La vice-présidente : Merci, monsieur Walraven.
Monsieur Clare, la parole est maintenant a vous.

John Clare, directeur général, Direction de la politique
stratégique, Direction générale des substances contrélées et
du cannabis, Santé Canada : Je vous remercie, madame la
présidente et honorables sénateurs. Je modifierai également ma
déclaration et la raccourcirai. Je me joins a vous aujourd’hui
depuis Revelstoke, en Colombie-Britannique, qui est le territoire
des Premiéres Nations Sinixt, Ktunaxa, Secwépemc et Syilx. Je
les remercie pour leur gestion de cette belle terre.

Ma déclaration aujourd’hui s’appuie sur les mises a jour
précédentes fournies par Santé Canada a votre comité en 2022
ainsi que sur la réponse du gouvernement, en mars 2024, au
douziéme rapport du comité.

Dans cette réponse, le gouvernement a souligné I’engagement
continu de Santé Canada a collaborer avec votre comité pour
répondre a toute préoccupation concernant la réponse du
gouvernement, ainsi qu’a toute mesure prise pour donner suite
aux recommandations de 1’Examen législatif de la Loi sur le

cannabis.

Les membres du comité se souviendront que leur douziéme
rapport a été déposé dans le cadre de I’examen législatif de la
Loi sur le cannabis. En ce qui concerne cet examen, le ministre
de la Santé et la ministre de la Santé mentale et des Dépendances
ont lancé cet examen en septembre 2022 en nommant un groupe
d’experts indépendant. Le groupe d’experts a été mandaté pour
examiner les impacts sur les Premiéres Nations, les Inuits et les
Métis ainsi que sur les peuples autochtones, les communautés
racialisées et les femmes qui pourraient étre plus a risque de
préjudice ou de faire face a des obstacles a la participation a
I’industrie 1égale du cannabis.

Le groupe d’experts a mené de vastes consultations, y compris
auprés des gouvernements, des communautés et des
organisations autochtones, afin de recueillir des points de vue
pour éclairer I’examen. Il a adopté une approche fondée sur les
distinctions dans le cadre de ses échanges avec les Premicres
Nations, les Inuits et les Métis, qui comprenaient des réunions
avec I’Assemblée des Premieres Nations, des représentants des
quatre régions inuites, la Fédération des Métis du Manitoba, le
Ralliement national des Métis ainsi que plusieurs communautés
spécifiques des Premiéres Nations.
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In March 2024, the minister tabled the independent expert
panel’s final report in Parliament. That report concluded that the
core functions of the cannabis framework are appropriately
positioned to continue to protect public health and public safety,
but some areas require further attention. To address these areas,
the panel made 54 recommendations to strengthen the
administration of the Cannabis Act, including recommendations
to improve Indigenous outcomes in health, public safety and law
enforcement and economic participation.

In developing their advice, the expert panel considered the
recommendations from this committee’s 2023 report and made
reference to them where applicable.

Health Canada is focused on addressing areas that pertain to
our mandated public health and regulatory responsibilities and
has already taken a number of actions to respond to those
recommendations. For example, in response to seven different
recommendations, Health Canada implemented amendments to
the Cannabis Regulations in March 2025 that reduce burden and
costs for legal cannabis producers, including by simplifying
packaging and labelling requirements and reducing record-
keeping and reporting.

Together, these streamlining measures have optimized the
regulatory framework and have enabled all regulated parties to
benefit from reduced regulatory burden while maintaining the
public health and public safety objectives of the act.

In response to different recommendations, Health Canada
continues to develop and deliver public education on the risks
associated with cannabis use. This includes expanding the “safe
storage” campaign designed to reduce the risk of accidental
pediatric exposures to cannabis, including piloting a new rack
card available in cannabis retail locations across provinces and
territories, as well as translating materials into the two languages
in Nunavut for distribution in that territory. This also includes
adapting the “How to help prevent cannabis poisoning in
children” brochures and the Pursue Your Passion in-school
campaign by translating them into Plains Cree, Eastern Ojibway
and Inuktitut. Health Canada is also sharing its cannabis digital
tool kit, a central place for stakeholders to easily access and
download specific public education materials about cannabis.

Finally, Budget 2025 allocated renewed funding to continue
the administration of the Cannabis Act, which included a
$24-million investment over three years for the Canadian
Institutes of Health Research, or CIHR, to support cannabis

En mars 2024, le ministre a déposé le rapport final du groupe
d’experts indépendant au Parlement. Ce rapport a conclu que les
fonctions principales du cadre de réglementation du cannabis
permettent de continuer a protéger la santé et la sécurité
publiques, mais que certains domaines nécessitent une
attention supplémentaire. Pour s’y attaquer, le comité a formulé
54 recommandations visant a renforcer 1’application de la Loi sur
le cannabis, y compris des recommandations pour améliorer la
situation des Autochtones en matiére de santé, de sécurité
publique, d’application de la loi et de participation économique.

Lors de 1’¢laboration de ses recommandations, le groupe
d’experts a pris en compte les recommandations du rapport
de 2023 du comité et il s’y est référé lorsque c’était pertinent.

Santé¢ Canada se concentre sur les domaines relevant de ses
responsabilités en mati¢re de santé publique et de réglementation
et a déja pris un certain nombre de mesures pour donner suite a
ces recommandations. Par exemple, en réponse a sept
recommandations différentes, Sant¢é Canada a mis en ceuvre
en mars 2025 des modifications au Réglement sur le cannabis
qui réduisent la charge administrative et les colits pour les
producteurs légaux de cannabis, notamment en simplifiant les
exigences en matiére d’emballage et d’étiquetage et en allégeant
les obligations en matieére de tenue de dossiers et de production
de rapports.

Ensemble, ces mesures de simplification ont optimisé le cadre
réglementaire et ont permis a toutes les parties réglementées de
bénéficier d’une réduction du fardeau réglementaire tout en
maintenant les objectifs de santé et de sécurité publiques de
la loi.

En réponse a différentes recommandations, Santé Canada
continue de concevoir et de lancer des campagnes de
sensibilisation du public sur les risques associés a 1’utilisation du
cannabis. Cela inclut D’expansion de la campagne sur
I’entreposage silir et responsable, congue pour réduire le risque
d’expositions accidentelles au cannabis chez les enfants,
notamment en testant un nouveau dépliant disponible dans les
points de vente de cannabis & travers les provinces et tetritoires,
ainsi qu’en traduisant les documents dans les deux langues du
Nunavut pour distribution dans ce territoire. Cela inclut
également 1’adaptation des brochures « Comment aider a
prévenir I’empoisonnement au cannabis chez les enfants » et de
la campagne scolaire « Vis ta passion » en les traduisant en cri
des plaines, en ojibwé de I’Est et en inuktitut. Santé Canada
donne également acces a sa trousse d’outils numériques sur le
cannabis, un endroit central ou les intervenants peuvent
facilement accéder a des documents spécifiques d’information
sur le cannabis et les télécharger.

Enfin, le budget de 2025 a alloué de nouveaux fonds pour
poursuivre I’application de la Loi sur le cannabis, notamment un
investissement de 24 millions de dollars sur trois ans pour les
Instituts de recherche en santé du Canada, les IRSC, afin de
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research. Last fall, the CIHR launched a national consortium to
study the effects of cannabis use on brain health, and one of the
priority areas is Indigenous people’s health and cannabis.

In conclusion, Health Canada appreciates the perspectives
generously shared by First Nations, Inuit and Métis during
ongoing engagement activities, and once again, I would like to
thank this committee for the opportunity to be here. I look
forward to answering your questions.

The Deputy Chair: Thank you, Mr. Clare, and thank you to
all of you for your opening remarks.

I wish to open the floor to questions from senators. I want to
remind you that you each have five minutes for your questions
and responses. I will ask members and witnesses to be concise.

Senator Francis: Good morning, everyone. Nice to see you
again, Ms. Ebert. This question is for you.

The committee recommended that the Royal Canadian
Mounted Police provide dedicated space for First Nations police
services to undertake drug recognition expert training and that
Public Safety Canada provide additional funding to First Nations
policing to support this work. How many, if any, spots are
currently reserved for officers from Indigenous police forces in
the drug recognition expert training cycles, and is that number
meeting the actual demand from those communities?

Ms. Ebert: Thank you for your question. In relation to the
drug recognition expert training, since its inception, we have
trained 41 First Nations police officers from 18 different services
across the country through their requests. This spans across the
country. Most recently, there were two officers from Quebec.

The RCMP is the steward of this training for all of Canada,
and we provide the training through funding that we’ve received
through Public Safety Canada.

I don’t have the specifics of how many requests we have had
in relation to the number of First Nations police officers seeking
that training. However, the RCMP and other police services also
attend those training courses for drug recognition expert training
and provide that level of investigation in First Nations
communities as well.

Senator Francis: Can you tell me a bit more about what the
training consists of? How is it being adapted, if at all, to ensure
that drug recognition and intervention protocols are culturally
sensitive?

soutenir la recherche sur le cannabis. L’automne dernier, les
IRSC ont lancé un consortium national pour étudier les effets de
la consommation de cannabis sur la santé cérébrale, et 1’un des
domaines prioritaires est la santé des peuples autochtones et le
cannabis.

En conclusion, Santé Canada apprécie les perspectives
généreusement exprimées par les Premiéres Nations, les Inuits et
les Métis lors des activités de mobilisation en cours. Je tiens une
fois de plus a remercier le comité pour I’occasion qui m’est
donnée d’étre ici. Je serai ravi de répondre a vos questions.

La vice-présidente : Merci, monsieur Clare, et merci a vous
tous pour vos déclarations préliminaires.

Je vais maintenant donner la parole aux sénateurs pour qu’ils
posent leurs questions. Je tiens a rappeler aux membres que vous
disposerez chacun d’un maximum de cinq minutes pour vos
questions et réponses. Je demanderai aux membres et aux
témoins d’étre concis.

Le sénateur Francis : Bonjour a tous. C’est un plaisir de
vous revoir, madame Ebert. Cette question s’adresse a vous.

Le comité a recommandé que la Gendarmerie royale du
Canada réserve des places aux services de police des Premicres
Nations pour que leurs membres puissent suivre une formation
d’expert en reconnaissance de drogues et que Sécurité publique
Canada accorde un financement supplémentaire aux services de
police des Premiéres Nations a cet égard. Combien de places, le
cas échéant, sont actuellement réservées aux policiers des
services de police autochtones dans les cycles de formation
d’expert en reconnaissance de drogues, et ce nombre répond-il a
la demande réelle de ces communautés?

Mme Ebert : Merci de votre question. Depuis la création de
la formation d’expert en reconnaissance des drogues, nous
avons formé 41 policiers des Premieres Nations provenant de
18 services différents a travers le pays, suite a leur demande.
Cela s’étend a travers le pays. Plus récemment, deux policiers du
Québec y ont participé.

La GRC est chargée de cette formation pour tout le Canada, et
nous offrons la formation grace au financement que nous avons
recu de Sécurité publique Canada.

Je n’ai pas les détails sur le nombre de demandes par rapport
au nombre d’agents de police des Premiéres Nations qui
souhaitent suivre cette formation. Cependant, la GRC et d’autres
services de police assistent également a cette formation d’expert
en reconnaissance de drogues et meénent des enquétes de cet
ordre dans des communautés des Premiéres Nations également.

Le sénateur Francis : Pourriez-vous m’en dire un peu plus
sur ce que comprend la formation? Comment est-elle adaptée, le
cas échéant, pour garantir que les protocoles de reconnaissance
de drogues et d’intervention soient adaptés a la culture?
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Ms. Ebert: Thank you for your question. The drug
recognition expert training is done through the International
Association of Chiefs of Police and is largely done outside of
Canada in the U.S., with only a few agencies in Canada. It is
done in both official languages: English and French. The
availability of this training largely depends on the availability of
spots we have through the United States. The Drug Evaluation
and Classification Program and the standard field sobriety testing
are also delivered in blocks of testing.

I believe your question, senator, was about culturally sensitive
training. It’s provided outside of Canada. I don’t have that
information in front of me. If anything has been introduced in
terms of culturally sensitive training, I would be happy to
provide that to you in writing.

Senator Francis: Thank you.
Senator Pate: Thank you to our witnesses for appearing.

For my first question — and you may have heard it during the
first panel — I’m requesting that each of the witnesses respond
in writing by the end of next week.

The government has provided grouped or themed responses to
the committee’s recommendations and report. We saw a similar
response at the Human Rights Committee in the Senate in
response to the Human Rights of Federally-Sentenced Persons.
This is an issue that also disproportionately impacts Indigenous
Peoples, as did that report, due to systemic inequality and
marginalization. The committee found this was a significant
barrier to government accountability and transparency, including
in regard to the government’s obligations to Indigenous Peoples.
My request to you is to explain why the government took this
approach, which does not clearly indicate whether it has
accepted or rejected each recommendation, the status of progress
toward implementation and any new measures taken in response
to each recommendation. Please provide that response in writing
as a follow-up to ensure that we have full information on each of
the recommendations made by the committee. So that’s that.

Second, we know data suggests that Indigenous individuals are
at least three times more likely than non-Indigenous individuals
to have previously experienced cannabis-related convictions.
And they are at least 4 to 11 times more likely to have
experienced cannabis-related arrests linked to wunderlying
systemic inequalities.

Mme Ebert : Merci de votre question. La formation d’expert
en reconnaissance de drogues est dispensée par 1’Association
internationale des chefs de police et se déroule principalement
aux FEtats-Unis, a Dextérieur du Canada, avec seulement
quelques organismes au Canada. Elle est donnée dans les deux
langues officielles, soit en anglais et en frangais. La disponibilité
de cette formation dépend en grande partie des places
disponibles aux Etats-Unis. Le Programme d’évaluation et de
classification des drogues ainsi que les tests de sobriété
normalisés sur le terrain sont également enseignés en bloc.

Je crois que votre question, sénateur, portait sur la formation
adaptée a la culture. Elle a lieu a I’extérieur du Canada. Je ne
dispose pas de cette information pour le moment. Si une
formation adaptée a la culture a été mise en place, je serai
heureuse de vous en faire part par écrit.

Le sénateur Francis : Je vous remercie.
La sénatrice Pate : Merci a nos témoins d’étre présents.

Pour ce qui est de ma premicre question — et vous ’avez
peut-étre entendue lors de la premiére partie de la séance —, je
demande a chacun des témoins d’y répondre par écrit d’ici la fin
de la semaine prochaine.

Le gouvernement a fourni des réponses regroupées ou
thématiques aux recommandations et au rapport du comité. Nous
avons obtenu une réponse similaire au Comité des droits de la
personne du Sénat en réponse au rapport Droits de la personne
des personnes purgeant une peine de ressort fédéral. 11 s’agit
d’un  probléme qui touche également de manicre
disproportionnée les peuples autochtones, comme en fait état ce
rapport, en raison des inégalités systémiques et de la
marginalisation. Le comité a conclu que cela constituait un
obstacle important a la reddition de comptes et a la transparence
de la part du gouvernement, notamment en ce qui concerne ses
obligations envers les peuples autochtones. Je vous demande
d’expliquer pourquoi le gouvernement a adopté cette approche,
qui n’indique pas clairement s’il a accepté ou rejeté chaque
recommandation, 1’état d’avancement de la mise en ceuvre des
recommandations et les nouvelles mesures prises en réponse a
chaque recommandation. Veuillez fournir cette réponse par écrit
afin de garantir que nous disposions de tous les renseignements
sur chacune des recommandations formulées par le comité. Voila
ce qui est de ma premiére question.

Deuxiémement, les données indiquent que les personnes
autochtones sont au moins trois fois plus susceptibles que les
personnes non autochtones d’avoir déja été condamnées pour des
infractions liées au cannabis. Elles sont en outre au moins 4 a
11 fois plus susceptibles d’avoir été arrétées pour des infractions
liées au cannabis en raison d’inégalités systémiques
sous-jacentes.
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My questions are: Have these rates changed since
decriminalization of cannabis possession in 2018? My
understanding is that the minister has had to issue a ministerial
directive because the requirement to remove records from
individuals for simple possession was not possible due to the
existing scheme not being all online. What measures are being
taken to ensure that there is a streamlined process for record
expiry or record expungement? And what concrete steps is the
government taking to examine an expanded approach to sealing
records to better account for and redress the historical
inequalities? How are you collecting data and analyzing the
impact of historical criminal records on Indigenous communities
to ensure approaches to the Cannabis Regulations are
meaningfully redressing those underlying inequalities? Any data
you can share would be appreciated.

I know that is a lot, but it impacts a lot of Indigenous folks,
and it is interconnected, of course, with other kinds of charges.
Any information you can provide now would be great, but if you
want to provide it all in writing, that’s fine too.

Mr. Clare: I'll start by answering the first part of the question
and then turn to my colleague from Public Safety Canada to talk
about record suspension. In terms of the format, I took note of
the senator’s question in the first hour in terms of the
government response taking a thematic approach. I take note of
her request to follow up in writing on specific recommendations.

The only thing I can offer in terms of the format of the
approach is that part of our role at Health Canada is to coordinate
across government. Cannabis legalization is a horizontal
initiative. It’s partly evidenced by the number of different
witnesses today from different government departments who
have different areas of responsibility on each area. In
coordinating that response, in an attempt to try to collect and
organize the different initiatives going across different
departments, that is why a thematic approach was taken.

I take note of her concern around being transparent and direct
about responding to specific recommendations. That’s the
response I can offer. It was just to try to collect and organize all
of the different initiatives into different buckets aligned with the
different recommendations.

Senator Pate: Thank you very much for that. I look forward
to your more complete written response.

J’ai plusieurs questions a ce sujet. Ces taux ont-ils évolué
depuis la l1égalisation de la possession de cannabis en 2018? Je
crois comprendre que le ministre a di publier une directive, car
la suppression des casiers judiciaires pour possession simple était
impossible, le systéme actuel n’étant pas entiérement en ligne.
Quelles sont les mesures prises pour garantir la mise en place
d’un processus simplifié d’expiration ou de radiation des casiers
judiciaires? Et quelles sont les mesures concretes prises par le
gouvernement pour examiner une approche élargie de la
mise sous scellés des casiers judiciaires afin de mieux tenir
compte des inégalités historiques et de les corriger? Comment
collectez-vous les données et analysez-vous 1’impact des
antécédents judiciaires sur les communautés autochtones afin de
vous assurer que les approches relatives au Réglement sur le
cannabis corrigent de maniére significative ces inégalités
sous-jacentes? Merci d’avance pour toutes les informations que
VOus pourrez communiquer.

Je sais que c’est beaucoup, mais cela concerne de nombreuses
personnes autochtones et, bien siir, cela est li¢ a d’autres types
d’accusations. Toute information que vous pourriez fournir
maintenant serait trés utile, mais si vous préférez me transmettre
le tout par écrit, cela me convient également.

M. Clare : Je commencerai par répondre a la premicre partie
de la question, puis je céderai la parole a mon collégue de
Sécurité publique Canada pour qu’il parle de la suspension du
casier judiciaire. En ce qui concerne le format de la réponse du
gouvernement, j’ai pris note de la question posée par la sénatrice
au cours de la premiére heure concernant le fait que le
gouvernement a adopté une approche thématique pour répondre
aux recommandations. Je prends également note de la demande
de la sénatrice de lui fournir par écrit des informations au sujet
de certaines recommandations.

La seule chose que je peux dire concernant cette approche,
c’est qu'une partiec de notre réle a Santé Canada consiste a
assurer la coordination au sein du gouvernement. La légalisation
du cannabis est une initiative horizontale. Cela se voit
notamment au nombre de témoins présents aujourd’hui issus de
différents ministéres et ayant chacun des domaines de
responsabilité distincts dans ce dossier. C’est pour coordonner
cette réponse, et tenter de rassembler et d’organiser les
différentes initiatives menées par les divers ministéres, qu’une
approche thématique a été adoptée.

Je prends bonne note de la préoccupation de la sénatrice
concernant la transparence et la franchise en ce qui a trait a la
réponse apportée a des recommandations précises. C’est la
réponse que je peux offrir. On a simplement tenté de rassembler
et de classer toutes les différentes initiatives en catégories
correspondant aux différentes recommandations.

La sénatrice Pate : Merci beaucoup. Je me réjouis de
recevoir, par écrit, vos réponses plus détaillées.
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Mr. Walraven: In response to the question, it’s duly noted
that a written response will need to be provided.

What I can say for the moment is the issue of addressing the
process for expunging criminal records does come up in my
general discussions with First Nations from time to time. What [
can say today and most recently — I think this was in
discussions with the Whitecap Dakota Nation when we were
there a little while ago — and similar to the conversation with
the CRA earlier, there is an awareness-building effort that needs
to be reinforced to make sure people know that the process exists
and they can navigate it effectively. I look forward to providing a
more fulsome written response to the question.

Senator Pate: Thank you very much, Mr. Walraven.

In addition to that, if you can talk about what progress was
made. It may be for both Assistant Commissioner Ebert and you.
My understanding is part of the reason a ministerial directive is
required is because the streamlining of the records has not
occurred. I think I first heard it from Minister Goodale that there
was work being done on that to allow for streamlining and to
allow for the expungement of records. Whatever progress is
being made there would be helpful.

My understanding is if people get stopped, the record still
shows up. There is a ministerial directive to say you can’t take it
into account, but if an individual police officer may not know,
how is that being dealt with?

Ms. Ebert: Thank you for your question. I don’t have that
information before me right now, but I will ensure that you have
it in writing.

Senator Pate: Thank you.

Senator McCallum: Thank you to the panellists who
provided us with information. You heard my question,
Mr. Walraven; it is on the ability of First Nations to have their
bylaws respected, enforced and prosecuted.

I found it really frustrating with the first panel because they
were — I don’t even know what they do; I really don’t.

In the executive summary, it says, “First Nations need
authority under federal law to regulate the possession, sale and
distribution of cannabis.”

Under the Cannabis Act, the Government of Canada opted not
to include a mechanism enabling First Nations governments to
pass laws and bylaws regulating and enforcing the sale of

M. Walraven : En réponse a cette question, je prends bonne
note du fait qu’une réponse écrite devra étre fournie.

Ce que je peux dire pour I’instant, c’est que la question de la
procédure de radiation des casiers judiciaires revient de temps a
autre dans mes discussions générales avec les Premiéres Nations.
En outre, je peux confirmer a I’heure actuelle — je pense que
cela a été abordé lors de nos échanges avec la nation Dakota de
Whitecap, a I’occasion de notre visite il y a peu de temps — que,
comme il a en a été question avec I’ARC tout a ’heure, nous
devons renforcer les efforts de sensibilisation pour nous assurer
que les gens connaissent 1’existence de ce processus et puissent
I’utiliser de maniere efficace. Je serai ravi de fournir une réponse
écrite plus complete a cette question.

La sénatrice Pate : Merci beaucoup, monsieur Walraven.

Pourriez-vous nous dire aussi quels sont les progrés qui ont été
réalisés? La question s’adresse aussi bien a vous qu’a la
commissaire adjointe Ebert. Si j’ai bien compris, 1'une des
raisons pour lesquelles une directive ministérielle est nécessaire
tient au fait que le processus de simplification relatif aux casiers
judiciaires n’a pas encore eu lieu. Je crois que c’est le ministre
Goodale qui nous a dit pour la premicre fois que des travaux
étaient en cours afin de permettre cette simplification et la
radiation des casiers judiciaires. Il serait utile de connaitre les
progres réalisés a ce sujet.

Si j’ai bien compris, si des personnes sont arrétées, leur casier
judiciaire apparait quand méme. Il existe une directive
ministérielle stipulant qu’il ne faut pas en tenir compte, mais si
un agent de police n’est pas au courant de cette directive,
comment cette situation est-elle gérée?

Mme Ebert : Merci de votre question. Je n’ai pas cette
information sous les yeux pour le moment, mais je veillerai a
vous la transmettre par écrit.

La sénatrice Pate : Je vous remercie.

La sénatrice McCallum : Merci aux témoins qui nous ont
fourni des informations. Vous avez slrement entendu ma
question, monsieur Walraven. Elle porte sur la capacité¢ des
Premiéres Nations a faire respecter et appliquer leurs réglements
et a engager des poursuites.

J’ai trouvé cela vraiment frustrant avec le premier groupe de
témoins. Je ne sais méme pas ce qu’ils font; je n’en ai vraiment
aucune idée.

Dans le résumé, on peut lire ceci : « Les Premiéres Nations
doivent étre autorisées par la législation fédérale a posséder, a
vendre et & distribuer du cannabis. »

Le gouvernement du Canada a choisi de ne pas inclure dans la
Loi sur le cannabis un mécanisme permettant aux gouvernements
des Premiéres Nations d’adopter des lois et des réglements visant
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cannabis on First Nations reserve lands, but this issue is for all
bylaws because it’s captured under that.

When we look at Bill C-49, it would expand the range of
powers that First Nations could have, and then when we look at
Bill C-428, it eliminated the minister’s oversight in regard to
bylaws and gives First Nations autonomy and responsibility —
those two laws passed — yet despite that, First Nations call that
they’re in a stranded regime, as they have not been able since
2019 to enforce or prosecute.

When I looked at the Standing Committee on Indigenous and
Northern Affairs report, the RCMP in B.C. said, “We enforce.”
Saskatchewan said, “Absolutely not.” Manitoba is a “no.” So it’s
different all around, and I don’t even know if B.C. is able to
enforce their bylaws.

They want to be able to enforce Canadian cannabis laws on
their lands, and you heard me say that when we were at the Legal
Committee in 2018, I asked Minister Blair what would take
precedence: federal, provincial or First Nations laws? He said
First Nations laws would, and that was at committee. So we are
still left up in the air with the cannabis laws.

In your view, are legislative or other changes required to
clarify First Nations jurisdiction under the Cannabis Act?

Mr. Walraven: I’d be pleased to take the first opportunity to
answer that question.

What I heard our previous panellists seek to explain is in
regard to the regulated cannabis market: I heard them say that
when a First Nation wishes to participate — if they wish to work
with the province of jurisdiction under the act and also align with
Health Canada regulatory authorities — in many parts of the
country, that is working. I heard them say in British Columbia, in
particular, they felt that it was working well.

I note that the question posed for a response is broader. We
need to speak more broadly about how it is working in terms of
First Nations laws and bylaws being enacted, enforced and
prosecuted where needed.

What we have in the context of cannabis is also a conversation
today about what is happening with the illegal cannabis market. I
do have interactions with many First Nations. I was in

a encadrer et a faire respecter la vente de cannabis sur les terres
des réserves des Premiéres Nations. Or, cet enjeu concerne tous
les réglements, car il reléve de ce cadre.

Si ’on examine le projet de loi C-49, on constate qu’il
¢largirait I’éventail des pouvoirs dont pourraient disposer les
Premiéres Nations. Quant au projet de loi C-428, il a mis fin a la
surveillance des réglements exercée par le ministre, ce qui donne
aux Premiéres Nations 1’autonomie et la responsabilité
nécessaire pour les gérer. Ces deux projets de loi ont été adoptés;
pourtant, les Premiéres Nations affirment étre bloquées, car elles
ne sont pas en mesure, depuis 2019, de faire respecter leurs
réglements ou d’engager des poursuites.

En examinant le rapport du Comité permanent des affaires
autochtones et du Nord, j’ai noté que la GRC en Colombie-
Britannique a déclaré : « Nous faisons appliquer les
réglements. » La Saskatchewan a déclaré : « Absolument pas. »
Le Manitoba a dit « non ». La situation est donc différente
partout, et je ne sais méme pas si la Colombie-Britannique est en
mesure de faire appliquer les réglements.

Les communautés autochtones souhaitent pouvoir faire
appliquer les lois canadiennes sur le cannabis sur leurs
territoires. Vous m’avez entendu dire que j’ai demandé au
ministre Blair, au Comité des affaires juridiques en 2018, quelles
lois prévaudraient : les lois fédérales, provinciales ou celles des
Premicres Nations? Il a répondu que ce seraient les lois des
Premiceres Nations, et cela s’est passé en comité. Nous sommes
donc toujours dans ’incertitude quant aux lois sur le cannabis.

Selon vous, des modifications 1égislatives ou autres sont-elles
nécessaires pour clarifier les pouvoirs des Premiéres Nations en
vertu de la Loi sur le cannabis?

M. Walraven : Je serais ravi de répondre a cette question en
premier.

D’aprés ce que j’ai entendu, les témoins précédents ont tenté
d’expliquer un point concernant le marché du cannabis
réglementé. Je les ai entendus dire que lorsqu’une Premiére
Nation souhaite participer a ce marché — lorsqu’elle souhaite
collaborer avec la province en vertu de la loi et se conformer aux
exigences réglementaires de Santé Canada —, cela fonctionne
bien dans de nombreuses régions du pays. Je les ai entendus dire
qu’en Colombie-Britannique, en particulier, ils estimaient que
cela fonctionnait bien.

Je note que la question posée appelle une réponse plus large.
Nous devons parler de maniére plus générale de la fagon dont
cela fonctionne en ce qui concerne 1’adoption et 1’application des
lois et des réglements et de la capacité d’intenter des poursuites,
le cas échéant.

Dans le contexte du cannabis, on parle également du marché
illicite du cannabis. Je suis en contact avec de nombreuses
Premicres Nations. Je me trouvais a Kahnawa:ke jeudi, ou le



28:32

Indigenous Peoples

28-4-2026

Kahnawa:ke on Thursday, where the illegal market is a concern.
And how do we enforce and make sure that First Nations wishes
and desires to have community safety in an environment where
they have similar problems can be respected and supported?

I look forward to probably answering over the course of this
morning broader questions about bylaw enforcement, but that is
the response I would provide to that specific question at this
time.

Senator McCallum: You know I have the 2 p.m. days on the
floor, and you said the initiative in B.C. is working. None of the
provinces are prosecuting. It’s only in Manitoba that has the pilot
project. I was in B.C. specifically about the enforcement and
prosecution. There are different stories, and the Public
Prosecution Service of Canada said they will not enforce any.
Because it is a provincial jurisdiction, then they have to have a
relationship, and none of the provinces, except in Manitoba, have
that relationship. I just wanted to clarify that.

The Deputy Chair: Did you want to comment, Ms. Ebert?

Ms. Ebert: 1 can, Madam Chair.

In relation to cannabis and band bylaws, the RCMP can
enforce all laws, whether it’s federal, provincial, territorial or
Indigenous laws. Band bylaws, by their nature, are valid and can
be enforced. The discretion of the enforcement does rest with the
individual officers as far as the discretion. The prosecutorial
piece I can’t speak to.

Band bylaws vary significantly by community and across the
country. Although band bylaws cannot conflict with federal or
provincial cannabis laws, in some areas where a band bylaw may
be helpful in relation to regulated legal cannabis is in relation to
proximity to schools, specifically where you would like those
regulated legal cannabis dispensaries located. The enforcement
around illicit, non-regulated dispensaries is an entirely different
conversation.

The Deputy Chair: Thank you very much.

Senator Prosper: Thank you to our witnesses here for
providing testimony. Previously, before having this privilege of
sitting as a senator, I was a Chief within a community. I had the
portfolio of justice at the time. The Cannabis Control Act came
out within Nova Scotia. There were discussions that had taken
place with the province.

marché illicite du cannabis constitue une source d’inquiétude.
Nous avons discuté des mesures a prendre pour faire appliquer la
loi et garantir que les souhaits et les désirs des Premiéres Nations
en matiere de sécurité communautaire soient respectés et
appuyés, dans un environnement ou elles rencontrent des
problémes similaires?

Je pense pouvoir répondre a des questions plus générales sur
I’application des réglements ce matin, mais pour le moment,
c’est la réponse que je peux donner a cette question en
particulier.

La sénatrice McCallum : Vous savez que je dois étre au
Sénat tous les jours a 14 heures. Vous avez dit que ’initiative
fonctionne bien en Colombie-Britannique. Aucune des provinces
n’intente des poursuites. Le Manitoba est la seule province a
avoir mis en place un projet pilote. Je me suis rendue en
Colombie-Britannique précisément pour m’informer sur
I’application de la loi et les poursuites. Les versions divergent, et
le Service des poursuites pénales du Canada a déclaré qu’il
n’engagerait aucune poursuite. Puisqu’il s’agit d’une compétence
provinciale, les provinces doivent établir une relation, mais
aucune province, a 1’exception du Manitoba, ne I’a fait. Je tenais
simplement a clarifier ce point.

La vice-présidente : Souhaitez-vous intervenir, madame

Ebert?
Mme Ebert : Oui, madame la présidente.

En ce qui concerne le cannabis et les réeglements des bandes, la
GRC peut faire appliquer toutes les lois, qu’elles soient
fédérales, provinciales, territoriales ou autochtones. Les
réglements des bandes, par leur nature, sont valides et peuvent
étre appliqués. Le pouvoir discrétionnaire en maticre
d’application de la loi reléve toutefois de chaque agent. Je ne
peux pas me prononcer sur la question des poursuites.

Les réglements des bandes varient considérablement d’une
communauté a 1’autre et a travers le pays. Bien que les
réglements des bandes ne puissent pas aller a I’encontre des lois
fédérales ou provinciales sur le cannabis, ils peuvent s’avérer
utiles dans certains domaines liés au cannabis légal et
réglementé, notamment en ce qui concerne la proximité avec les
écoles, et plus précisément 1’emplacement souhaité pour les
points de vente réglementés du cannabis 1égal. L’application de
la loi concernant les points de vente illicites et non réglementés
est un tout autre sujet.

La vice-présidente : Merci beaucoup.

Le sénateur Prosper : Merci a nos témoins pour leurs
témoignages. Avant d’avoir le privilege d’occuper le poste de
sénateur, j’étais chef au sein d’une communauté. J’étais alors
chargé du portefeuille de la justice. La loi sur le contrdle du
cannabis a été adoptée en Nouvelle-Ecosse. Des discussions ont
eu lieu avec la province.
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At the time, the Mi’kmaq were looking for some space to have
some jurisdiction and involvement over cannabis. There was no
space provided within Nova Scotia.

I understand that there are some regimes and agreements in
British Columbia, Ontario, Quebec and Saskatchewan. My
question is for Mr. Clare. In the absence of the provincial
government providing an opportunity for First Nations to
participate within the jurisdiction over cannabis and the sale of
cannabis, what other options exist for First Nations in that regard
federally?

Mr. Clare: We tend to talk about the cannabis industry as a
single thing. The way the framework and the regime have been
set out in Canada under the Cannabis Act is that Health Canada
serves as the regulator for the production of cannabis. So it’s the
cultivation and processing.

The wholesale distribution and retail sales are set out for
provincial governments to oversee, authorize and regulate. To
answer the senator’s question about what opportunities exist at
the federal level, the main opportunity is on that production side.

The approach that Health Canada takes is that if a First
Nations community wants to enact a cannabis control law that
oversees the production of cannabis, the cultivation and the
manufacturing of finished products, we’ll sit down with that
community and try to come to a mutually beneficial
arrangement, where you see the application of the Cannabis Act
being applied in coordination with the First Nation’s own
cannabis law.

The Cannabis Act, as enacted by Parliament, is a law of
general application. It applies across the country. Under that act,
a licence is required from the Minister of Health, but that doesn’t
preclude a First Nations government from also exercising the
legal authority to regulate that same activity and to require their
own authorization.

We have an example of that. I know this committee has heard
from the Mohawk Council of Kahnawa:ke in that regard, where
we have an arrangement with the Mohawk Council of
Kahnawa:ke. There is a licensed producer in that community
who has been licensed by both Health Canada and the Mohawk
Council of Kahnawa:ke so that each level of government is able
to exercise some degree of regulatory oversight for that
producer.

That’s the main opportunity in terms of engagement with
Health Canada and the federal government.

A I’époque, les Mi’kmaq cherchaient a obtenir la possibilité
d’exercer une certaine compétence dans le domaine du cannabis
et de participer au secteur. La Nouvelle-Ecosse ne leur a pas
donné cette possibilité.

Je crois savoir qu’il existe certains régimes et ententes en
Colombie-Britannique, en Ontario, au Québec et en
Saskatchewan. Ma question s’adresse a M. Clare. Si le
gouvernement provincial n’offre pas aux Premiéres Nations la
possibilité de participer a la vente du cannabis, quelles sont les
autres options qui s’offrent aux Premiéres Nations a cet égard a
I’échelle fédérale?

A

M. Clare : Nous avons tendance a parler de I’industrie du
cannabis comme d’un tout. Le cadre et le régime mis en place au
Canada en vertu de la Loi sur le cannabis prévoient que Santé
Canada agit en tant qu’organisme de réglementation pour la
production de cannabis. Cela concerne donc la culture et la
transformation.

La distribution en gros et la vente au détail relévent quant a
elles de la compétence des gouvernements provinciaux, qui sont
chargés de les superviser, de les autoriser et de les réglementer.
Pour répondre a la question du sénateur concernant les
possibilités qui existent au niveau fédéral, je dirais que la

production constitue la meilleure possibilité.

L’approche adoptée par Santé Canada est la suivante : si une
communauté des Premiéres Nations souhaite adopter une loi sur
le controle du cannabis qui réglemente la production de
cannabis, la culture et la fabrication de produits finis, nous allons
discuter avec cette communauté pour tenter de parvenir a une
entente mutuellement avantageuse, dans laquelle la Loi sur le
cannabis s’appliquera en coordination avec les lois de la
Premiére Nation sur le cannabis.

La Loi sur le cannabis, telle qu’adoptée par le Parlement, est
une loi d’application générale. Elle s’applique dans ’ensemble
du pays. En vertu de cette loi, il est nécessaire de détenir un
permis délivré par le ministre de la Santé, mais cela n’empéche
pas un gouvernement des Premiéres Nations d’exercer ¢galement
son pouvoir légal pour réglementer cette méme activité et
d’exiger sa propre autorisation.

Nous en avons un exemple. Je sais que le comité a entendu le
Conseil des Mohawks de Kahnawa:ke a cet égard, avec lequel
nous avons conclu une entente. Il existe dans cette communauté
un producteur qui a obtenu un permis a la fois de Santé Canada
et du Conseil des Mohawks de Kahnawa:ke, de sorte que chaque
ordre de gouvernement est en mesure d’exercer un certain degré
de surveillance réglementaire sur ce producteur.

C’est 1a la meilleure possibilité en matiére de collaboration
avec Santé Canada et le gouvernement fédéral.
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Senator Prosper: Just to follow up on that, you mentioned
that opportunity within Kahnawa:ke. Does that regime that has
been set up involve any buy-in from the provincial government
in that regard?

Mr. Clare: No, not expressly. It really has to do with the
regulatory requirements for the production of cannabis for that
specific production site in Kahnawa:ke. The authorization that
the licence holder holds is a licence from Health Canada and an
authorization from the Mohawk Council of Kahnawa:ke.

Senator Prosper: Mr. Clare, if we were to go beyond
production into sale and distribution, is that exclusively
provincial?

Mr. Clare: The main role that Health Canada plays in that
context is to try to be at the table in a tripartite sense to bring the
province into the conversation to allow for a similar type of
arrangement.

Senator Prosper: Mr. Clare, I just want to follow up on that:
Within that tripartite arrangement, if you don’t have a willing
provincial or territorial government to provide that space for sale
and distribution through their own First Nations laws, what are
your options? What things can your government do even in
union with First Nations if you’re not having a willing provincial
or territorial partner in those tripartite discussions?

Mr. Clare: I can answer for myself as an official who is
administering the Cannabis Act and our regulatory
responsibilities. The main role we play is as a facilitator. We try
to engage and bring the First Nation and the province together to
try to find a mutually beneficial arrangement. I’m constrained by
the authorities that exist under the Cannabis Act. The main role
we play is as that facilitator, which is trying to find an agreement
to reach that type of mutually agreeable arrangement between the
First Nation and the provincial government.

Senator Prosper: Just to further clarify, it’s a facilitation
role. You don’t see the need to reconcile the Cannabis Act with a
federal act like the United Nations Declaration on the Rights of
Indigenous Peoples Act? You don’t see that space where there
has to be consistency between the declaration and the federal
Cannabis Act. It’s just not on your radar. Is that correct?

Mr. Clare: No, it’s on my radar, and I’ve taken note of this
committee’s recommendation in their report. I’ve taken note of
the expert panel’s recommendations in this space in the
legislative review. It’s just that as an official, I’m constrained by
the act that has been passed by Parliament.

Le sénateur Prosper : Pour revenir a cette question, vous
avez mentionné cette entente avec Kahnawa:ke. Le régime qui a
été mis en place implique-t-il une quelconque participation du
gouvernement provincial a cet égard?

M. Clare : Non, pas expressément. [’entente concerne les
exigences réglementaires relatives a la production de cannabis
sur ce site de production spécifique a Kahnawake. Le
producteur détient un permis délivré par Santé Canada et une
autorisation du Conseil des Mohawks de Kahnawa:ke.

Le sénateur Prosper : Monsieur Clare, si nous devions aller
au-dela de la production pour inclure la vente et la distribution,
cela reléve-t-il exclusivement de la compétence des provinces?

M. Clare : Le role principal que Santé Canada joue dans ce
contexte consiste a s’efforcer de participer a des discussions
tripartites afin d’amener la province dans la conversation et de
permettre la mise en place d’une entente similaire.

Le sénateur Prosper : Monsieur Clare, je souhaite
simplement revenir sur ce point : dans le cadre d’une telle
entente tripartite, si aucun gouvernement provincial ou territorial
n’est disposé a offrir cette possibilité pour la vente et la
distribution en vertu des lois des Premieres Nations, quelles sont
vos options? Que peut faire votre gouvernement, méme en
collaboration avec les Premicres Nations, si vous n’avez pas de
partenaire provincial ou territorial disposé a participer a ces
discussions tripartites?

M. Clare : Je peux répondre en mon nom propre, en tant que
fonctionnaire chargé de 1’application de la Loi sur le cannabis et
de nos obligations réglementaires. Nous jouons principalement
un r6le de facilitateur. Nous essayons de rassembler les
Premiéres Nations et la province afin de trouver une entente qui
soit mutuellement avantageuse. Je suis restreint par les pouvoirs
prévus dans la Loi sur le cannabis. Notre role principal est celui
de facilitateur, c’est-a-dire que nous essayons de trouver une
entente qui sera mutuellement acceptable par la Premiére Nation
et le gouvernement provincial.

Le sénateur Prosper : Pour clarifier davantage, vous jouez
un role de facilitateur. Ne voyez-vous pas la nécessité de
concilier la Loi sur le cannabis avec une loi fédérale telle que la
Loi sur la Déclaration des Nations unies sur les droits des
peuples autochtones? Vous ne voyez pas qu’il doit y avoir une
cohérence entre cette déclaration et la Loi sur le cannabis? Cela
ne fait tout simplement pas partie de vos préoccupations. Est-ce
exact?

M. Clare : Non, cela fait partie de mes préoccupations, et j’ai
pris note de la recommandation formulée par le comité dans son
rapport. J’ai également pris note des recommandations formulées
par le groupe d’experts dans le cadre de 1’examen législatif.
C’est simplement qu’en tant que fonctionnaire, je suis lié par la
loi qui a été adoptée par le Parlement.



28-4-2026

Peuples autochtones

28:35

It’s in administering the act as enacted where I find that this is
my role on this specific issue. Whether or not the law should be
amended, others have made that recommendation, and I’m sure
the honourable senators understand the position I'm in as an
official. My advice to the minister with respect to those
recommendations is advice to ministers, and it’s not something
that I can share.

Senator Prosper: I have just one more question: Why is there
no movement by your department? Is it a matter of choice that
you just don’t want to move forward despite the facts and
specifics that have been made public through study of this
particular issue and in involving and hearing from First Nations
perspectives?

Mr. Clare: 1 would answer the question in two ways. I can’t
speak for the government in terms of response to
recommendations to amend legislation. That’s the prerogative of
government. As an official, I can’t amend legislation or even
propose amendments to legislation. But what I can do as an
official is to operate within the context and the legal framework
as enacted by Parliament.

In that regard, we are taking action. There was a question in
the previous session about what form of engagement and what
form of consultation we’re talking about. My group in Health
Canada sits down and has nation-to-nation discussions with
individual First Nations who want to enact their own cannabis
laws and want to seek to find that type of arrangement where
both the Cannabis Act and the First Nations laws are applied to
those activities in the community. That’s the action I can speak
to as an official. It’s difficult for me to speak to the
government’s reasons for whether or not to move specific pieces
of legislation.

Senator Prosper: Thank you.

The Deputy Chair: As a follow-up comment to that, it could
be in the purview of First Nations themselves to bring in the
notion of the declaration and the United Nations Declaration on
the Rights of Indigenous Peoples Act. First Nations governments
could bring that forward as part of this conversation that you’ve
just spoken about. Is that right? Do I understand that correctly?

Mr. Clare: That is my understanding as well.
The Deputy Chair: Thank you.

Senator Pate: As a supplementary comment to your response,
it is, in fact, part of the responsibility of the bureaucracy to
provide advice to the ministers about suggested legislative
change, improvement and that sort of thing.

C’est dans I’application de la loi telle qu’elle a été promulguée
que je considére que mon rdle réside sur cette question précise.
Quant a savoir si la loi devrait étre modifiée ou non, d’autres ont
formulé cette recommandation, et je suis sir que les honorables
sénateurs comprennent la position dans laquelle je me trouve en
tant que fonctionnaire. Les conseils que je donne au ministre
concernant ces recommandations sont des conseils destinés au
ministre, et ce n’est pas quelque chose que je peux
communiquer.

Le sénateur Prosper : J’ai juste une derniére question.
Pourquoi le ministére n’a-t-il pas encore pris de mesures? Est-ce
un choix délibéré de ne pas aller de I’avant, malgré les faits et les
détails qui ont été rendus publics par I’étude de cette question
particuliére et par les témoignages recueillis auprés des
Premieres Nations?

M. Clare : Je répondrais a cette question de deux maniéres. Je
ne peux pas m’exprimer au nom du gouvernement quant a la
réponse a apporter aux recommandations visant a modifier la loi.
C’est la une prérogative du gouvernement. En tant que
fonctionnaire, je ne peux ni modifier la loi ni méme proposer des
amendements a celle-ci. Mais ce que je peux faire en tant que
fonctionnaire, c’est agir dans le contexte et le cadre de la loi telle
qu’elle a été adoptée par le Parlement.

A cet égard, nous prenons des mesures. Lors de la premiére
partie de la session, une question a été posée sur la forme
d’engagement et de consultation dont nous parlons. Mon groupe
a Santé Canada mene des discussions de nation a nation avec les
Premiéres Nations qui souhaitent adopter leurs propres lois sur le
cannabis et cherche a arriver a une entente permettant
d’appliquer a la fois la Loi sur le cannabis et les lois des
Premieres Nations a ces activités au sein de la communauté.
C’est I’initiative dont je peux parler en tant que fonctionnaire. Il
m’est difficile de m’exprimer sur les raisons qui poussent le
gouvernement a présenter ou non des projets de loi spécifiques.

Le sénateur Prosper : Je vous remercie.

La vice-présidente : Pour faire suite a cela, je dirais qu’il
pourrait incomber aux Premiéres Nations elles-mémes
d’introduire les principes de la Déclaration des Nations unies sur
les droits des peuples autochtones et de la loi afférente. Les
gouvernements des Premicres Nations pourraient aborder ce
sujet dans le cadre des discussions dont vous venez de parler.
Est-ce bien cela? Ai-je bien compris?

M. Clare : C’est aussi ce que je comprends.
La vice-présidente : Je vous remercie.

La sénatrice Pate : Pour compléter votre réponse, je dirais
qu’il incombe en effet aux fonctionnaires de fournir aux
ministres des conseils sur, entre autres, des modifications ou des
améliorations a apporter a la loi.



28:36

Indigenous Peoples

28-4-2026

I think you’re saying you can’t tell us what your advice to the
minister may have been, but if there are areas you can flag that
have already been flagged by the committee, I think it would be
useful for the committee to know those are common concerns.

And perhaps in response to Senator Prosper, you could also
talk about your ability to do the work in the regulatory sandbox,
if I can put it that way, and make recommendations there. Maybe
that could be part of the written follow-up as well. Thank you.

Senator Clement: I so appreciate the questions from Senator
Prosper. That lack of consistency is so frustrating and a real
barrier in terms of how to move forward and plan to build. Thank
you for those questions.

I’'m going to go back to some of your responses to Senator
Francis around cultural sensitivity and training. You talked about
both official languages, but I would like to hear you speak about
Indigenous languages and its role or how you’re centring the
importance of that in the work you’re doing. I know you won’t
speak to what’s going on necessarily in terms of training outside
of Canada, but I'm very interested in what you’re doing here.

Mr. Walraven: Thank you very much for the question. What
I can say is under the First Nations and Inuit Policing Program,
part of the rationale for the funding we provide — cost-shared
with provinces and territories — to support the types of
initiatives I laid out in my opening remarks is to make sure we
are supporting equity-based policing in First Nations
communities and then, on top of that, having supports that
respond to the cultural needs of the community.

Where we are funding First Nations or Inuit police services,
the funding we are providing to them enables them to support
whatever cultural training, language training or other relevant
training, to your question, in that domain.

And we continue to work with them in discussing what the
financial needs for those types of supports are and where we can
go from the status quo we have at the moment.

I don’t believe that fully addresses everything inherent in your
question, but for the purposes of the First Nations and Inuit
Policing Program, that is what I can say we aim to support.

Je crois comprendre que vous ne pouvez pas nous dire quels
conseils vous avez éventuellement donnés au ministre, mais si
vous pouvez souligner des préoccupations qui ont déja été
soulevées par le comité, je pense qu’il serait utile pour le comité
de savoir qu’il s’agit 1a de préoccupations communes.

Et peut-étre, dans votre réponse au sénateur Prosper, vous
pourriez également parler de votre capacité a effectuer ce travail
dans le cadre du bac a sable réglementaire, si je puis m’exprimer
ainsi, et a formuler des recommandations. Cela pourrait peut-étre
également faire partie de votre réponse écrite. Je vous remercie.

La sénatrice Clement : J’apprécie énormément les questions
posées par le sénateur Prosper. Ce manque de cohérence est
extrémement frustrant et constitue un véritable obstacle pour
aller de I’avant et planifier le travail a faire. Je vous remercie de
ces questions.

Je vais revenir sur certaines de vos réponses au sénateur
Francis concernant 1’adaptation a la culture et la formation. Vous
avez évoqué les deux langues officielles, mais j’aimerais vous
entendre parler des langues autochtones et de leur role. Comment
mettez-vous I’accent sur leur importance dans le travail que vous
accomplissez? Je sais que vous ne vous exprimerez pas
nécessairement sur ce qui se passe en matiére de formation a
I’extérieur du Canada, mais je suis trés intéressée par ce que
vous faites ici.

M. Walraven : Merci beaucoup pour la question. Ce que je
peux dire, c’est que, dans le cadre du Programme de services de
police des Premiéres Nations et des Inuits, I’une des raisons pour
lesquelles nous accordons ce financement — a frais partagés
avec les provinces et les territoires — destiné a soutenir les types
d’initiatives que j’ai présentées dans mon introduction, c’est
pour veiller a favoriser des services de police fondés sur 1’équité
au sein des communautés des Premiéres Nations et pour
s’assurer que les mesures de soutien mises en place répondent
aux besoins culturels de ces communautés.

Pour répondre a votre question, je peux dire que, lorsque nous
finangons les services de police des Premiéres Nations ou des
Inuits, les fonds que nous leur accordons leur permettent d’offrir
de la formation culturelle, linguistique ou toute autre formation
pertinente dans ce domaine.

Et nous continuons a travailler avec eux pour discuter des
besoins de financement en la matiére et déterminer comment
faire évoluer la situation actuelle.

Je ne crois pas que cela réponde pleinement a tous les aspects
de votre question, mais en ce qui concerne le Programme des
services de police des Premicres Nations et des Inuits, c’est ce
que je peux dire a propos de ce que le financement vise a
soutenir.
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Senator Clement: Are there any specific languages you have
noted through your building of relationships with different
communities regarding which communities are focused on that
or have prioritized that?

Mr. Walraven: Well, what I can say is we have many: For
example, there’s the Nunavik Police Service in northern Quebec,
the Nishnawbe Aski Police Service in northern Ontario and the
Mohawk police services that we support in Akwesasne and
Kahnawa:ke. And I think this is also a conversation that comes
up about the RCMP policing in Mi’kma’ki territory. There are
parts of the country where the community fluency is the point
where they’re looking for police services that respect that
language fluency.

Where we are aiming to provide proper and effective police
services and language, having front-line officers who are able to
provide service in the language of choice is something that does
come up in conversation, which is what we try to financially
support through the program.

Senator Clement: Thank you.

The Deputy Chair: Any other questions from senators? We
have about three and a half minutes left.

Senator Prosper: I have a question for Mr. Walraven. You
mentioned a concern with respect to matters related to the illegal
cannabis market and the issues of public safety related to that.
Certainly, Indigenous communities have sought to address public
safety issues through their own laws, whether they are band
bylaws or First Nations laws under a specific land code.

Ms. Ebert, you mentioned about band bylaws as well and that
they’re in fact laws that are recognized, certainly within Canada,
and they have a legal standing in that regard.

If First Nations communities have issues with respect to public
health and safety involving cannabis through the passage of
laws, why is there a general reluctance of the federal government
to institute mechanisms and processes to implement these laws?

I do understand there’s a provincial component, but certainly
there is a large component as well within the federal domain.
Can either of you provide comments on that?

Mr. Walraven: Thank you very much for the question. What
I would offer in direct response to the question is I think there is
recognition on my part and also, I think, the Government of
Canada officials who have been speaking to this committee on
the general issue of bylaw enforcement and First Nations law
enforcement that we need to deepen our efforts to make sure we

La sénatrice Clement : Avez-vous remarqué, au fil de vos
échanges avec différentes communautés, quelles communautés
accordent la priorité a des langues spécifiques?

M. Walraven : Eh bien, je peux dire qu’il y en a beaucoup.
On peut citer le Service de police du Nunavik, dans le Nord du
Québec, le Service de police de Nishnawbe Aski, dans le Nord
de 1’Ontario, et les services de police mohawks que nous
soutenons a Akwesasne et a Kahnawa:ke. Je pense que ce sujet
revient souvent aussi lors des discussions concernant les services
de police de la GRC sur le territoire mi’kmaq. Il existe des
régions du pays ou la maitrise de la langue au sein de la
communauté est telle qu’on recherche des services de police qui
reconnaissent cette maitrise de la langue.

Dans la mesure ou notre objectif est d’offrir des services de
police adéquats et efficaces dans la langue de la communauté, la
question de disposer d’agents de premiére ligne capables de
communiquer dans la langue en question revient souvent dans les
discussions; c’est précisément ce que nous essayons de soutenir
financiérement par le biais de ce programme.

La sénatrice Clement : Je vous remercie.

La vice-présidente : Y a-t-il d’autres questions de la part des
sénateurs? Il nous reste environ trois minutes et demie.

Le sénateur Prosper : J’ai une question pour M. Walraven.
Vous avez évoqué une préoccupation concernant ce qui touche
au marché illicite du cannabis et les problémes de sécurité
publique qui y sont associés. Les communautés autochtones ont
cherché a régler les problémes de sécurité publique par le biais
de leurs propres lois, qu’il s’agisse de réglements des bandes ou
de lois des Premiéres Nations relevant d’un code foncier
spécifique.

Madame Ebert, vous avez également évoqué les réglements
des bandes et le fait qu’il s’agit en réalité de lois reconnues, du
moins au Canada, et qu’ils ont un statut juridique a cet égard.

Si les communautés des Premicres Nations sont confrontées a
des problémes de santé et de sécurité publiques liés au cannabis,
pourquoi le gouvernement fédéral se montre-t-il généralement
réticent & mettre en place les mécanismes et les procédures
nécessaires a I’application de ces lois?

Je comprends bien qu’il y a un volet provincial, mais il existe
aussi un volet important qui reléve de la compétence fédérale.
L’un de vous pourrait-il fournir des commentaires a ce sujet?

M. Walraven : Merci beaucoup pour la question. Pour y
répondre directement, je dirais que je suis conscient,
probablement comme tous les représentants du gouvernement du
Canada qui se sont exprimés devant le comité sur la question
générale de I’application des réglements et des lois des
Premiéres Nations, que nous devons redoubler d’efforts pour
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have coherence, clarity and structure to how bylaws are created,
enforced, prosecuted and enacted.

What I would say, though, is it depends a little bit on what the
focus of the bylaw is in terms of how well it is working. If a
bylaw is configured and has synchronicity with provincial or
federal regulations — which is partly what we heard in this
discussion in some places about how cannabis production and
retail alignment is where it is — then things can work well.

Where we do have a bit of a disconnect is where First Nations
are seeking to enforce laws and bylaws that have some degree of
separation from the broader Canadian legal system. As I think
the senator who departed is aware, in some places we have been
supporting initiatives at a local level that build relationships
between First Nations law enforcement and prosecution services
so that everyone is on the same page about how things could and
should work, but we need to expand that into other areas.

And we need to cross-fertilize awareness between different
parts of the country because some really great innovative things
are taking place in certain parts of the country, as committee
members know, but we need to make sure people are aware and
we’re not starting from scratch in every place, where there is a
sharing of information so that best practices can be expedited in
different parts of the country.

Senator Prosper: Thank you for that. On those examples of
synchronicity that you mentioned work well, how many
examples are we talking about here that you can reference?

Mr. Walraven: As I think was mentioned the last time I had
the pleasure of coming to this committee, with the Manitoba
Keewatinowi Okimakanak, or MKO, which is the First Nations
organization of northern Manitoba, we have a really great pilot
project that the Government of Canada has been supporting
through the Department of Justice Canada, whether it is dry
community law enforcement or whether it is bylaw enforcement
ranging from just speeding to other basic infractions.

We have these pilot initiatives that are showing that you can
make sure everyone is on the same page about what needs to be
enforced, what priorities are attributed to that and especially how
prosecutions should work. In many cases, they are civil matters.
It could be a ticketing or even a restorative justice approach
that’s applied. There needs to be a collective conversation that
often includes federal and provincial aspects of justice to make
sure we have a coherent system.

garantir la cohérence, la clarté et la structure dans la fagon dont
les réglements sont élaborés, appliqués et adoptés ainsi que dans
la maniére dont les poursuites sont intentées.

Je dirais toutefois que l’efficacité d’un reglement dépend en
partie de son objet. Si un réglement est congu de maniére a
s’harmoniser avec les réglements provinciaux ou fédéraux —
comme on en a parlé dans le cas de la production et de la vente
au détail de cannabis —, alors les choses peuvent bien
fonctionner.

C’est lorsque les Premieres Nations cherchent a appliquer des
lois et des reglements qui divergent dans une certaine mesure du
systtme juridique canadien dans son ensemble que nous
constatons un certain décalage. Comme le sénateur qui vient de
quitter la salle le sait sans doute, nous avons, dans certaines
régions, soutenu des initiatives locales visant a établir des liens
entre les services de police des Premicres Nations et les services
des poursuites, afin que tout le monde soit sur la méme longueur
d’onde quant a la maniere dont les choses pourraient et devraient
fonctionner. Cela dit, cette démarche devrait étre étendue a
d’autres domaines.

Nous devons également favoriser 1’échange des connaissances
entre les différentes régions du pays, car, comme les membres du
comité le savent, des initiatives particuliérement innovantes
voient le jour par endroits. Nous devons toutefois veiller a ce que
les gens en soient informés et a éviter de repartir a zéro, en
favorisant 1’échange d’informations afin que les meilleures
pratiques puissent étre mises en ceuvre rapidement dans
différentes régions du pays.

Le sénateur Prosper : Je vous en remercie. En ce qui
concerne ces exemples de synchronicité que vous avez
mentionnés et qui fonctionnent bien, combien pourriez-vous en
citer?

M. Walraven : La derniére fois que j’ai eu le plaisir de
comparaitre devant le comité, je crois avoir mentionné qu’avec
le Manitoba Keewatinowi Okimakanak, ou MKO, 1’organisation
des Premiéres Nations du Nord du Manitoba, nous menons un
projet pilote vraiment remarquable que le gouvernement du
Canada soutient par I’intermédiaire du ministere de la Justice du
Canada, qu’il s’agisse de 1’application de la loi dans les
communautés sans alcool ou de I’application des réglements,
allant du simple excés de vitesse a d’autres infractions mineures.

Nous menons actuellement des initiatives pilotes qui
démontrent qu’il est possible de s’assurer que tout le monde est
sur la méme longueur d’onde quant aux mesures a appliquer, aux
priorités a établir et, surtout, au fonctionnement des poursuites
judiciaires. Dans de nombreux cas, il s’agit d’affaires civiles. On
peut alors recourir a la contravention ou méme a une approche de
justice réparatrice. Un dialogue collectif, impliquant souvent les
instances judiciaires fédérales et provinciales, est nécessaire pour
garantir la cohérence du systéme.
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That is the best locational example I can offer to the
committee. I am from British Columbia. You are also seeing that
in the context of modern treaties and self-government
agreements, these types of conversations are taking foot there
and in many other places.

I am looking forward in the months to come, understanding
that in Ontario, the Mississauga First Nation has a particularly
innovative approach with the Ontario Provincial Police.

There are places where this local conversation is showing that
things can work better. It’s really important to aggregate that
conversation and make sure we have a more wholesale
discussion about how these things can work well within different
provincial and territorial jurisdictions.

The Deputy Chair: Thank you very much. The time for this
panel is complete. I again want to thank our witnesses for being
here and for being onscreen with us. Thank you for your
contributions. If you wish to make any subsequent submissions
beyond what we’ve already requested, please do so and email
them to the clerk by May 8.

(The committee adjourned.)

C’est le meilleur exemple concret que je puisse donner au
comité. En Colombie-Britannique, d’ou je viens, on constate
également que, dans le cadre des traités modernes et des ententes
d’autonomie gouvernementale, ce genre de dialogue s’installe
la-bas et dans bien d’autres endroits.

Je me réjouis de ce qui nous attend dans les mois a venir,
sachant qu’en Ontario, la Premieére Nation de Mississauga a
adopté une approche particuliérement innovante de concert avec
la Police provinciale de 1’Ontario.

11 existe des endroits ou ce dialogue local démontre qu’il est
possible d’améliorer le fonctionnement des choses. Il est
vraiment important de rassembler ces échanges et de veiller a ce
que nous ayons une discussion plus globale sur la maniére dont
ces choses peuvent bien fonctionner au sein des provinces et
territoires.

\

La vice-présidente : Merci beaucoup. Le temps alloué a ce
groupe de témoins est terminé. Je tiens a remercier une nouvelle
fois nos témoins d’avoir participé a cette réunion en personne et
en ligne. Je vous remercie de vos contributions. Si vous
souhaitez nous faire parvenir des observations complémentaires
en plus de celles que nous avons demandées, n’hésitez pas a les
envoyer par courriel au greffier avant le 8 mai.

(La séance est levée.)




